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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Good

          3  afternoon.  I am Council Member Madeline Provenzano,

          4  the Chair of the Committee on Housing and Buildings.

          5                 Today, we have two items on the

          6  agenda for consideration.  The first is proposed

          7  Intro. Number 4A, a local law to amend the

          8  Administrative Code of the City of New York in

          9  relation to requiring the installation of carbon

         10  monoxide detecting devices in buildings classified

         11  in occupancy groups G, H2, J1, J2 and J3.

         12                 Second item is Intro. Number 58, a

         13  local law to amend the Administrative Code of the

         14  City of New York in relation to requiring protective

         15  devices for seniors and disabled persons who reside

         16  in multiple dwellings.

         17                 Proposed Intro. Number 4 would

         18  require the installation of carbon monoxide

         19  detecting devices in apartments, one and two-family

         20  homes, hospitals, schools, where a fossil burning

         21  furnace or boiler is located, and in certain

         22  buildings in close proximity to a source of carbon

         23  monoxide.

         24                 Proposed Intro. Number 4A would

         25  require at least one carbon monoxide detecting
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          2  device within 15 feet of sleeping rooms in Class A

          3  multiple dwellings and private dwellings. Owners

          4  would be responsible for installing -- owners would

          5  be responsible for installing approved devices,

          6  while occupants would be required to keep and

          7  maintain the devices in good repair.

          8                 Owners would be entitled to a

          9  reimbursement of $25.00 per device from tenants.  In

         10  Class B multiple dwellings, carbon monoxide

         11  detecting devices must be installed in each dwelling

         12  unit or a line operated zone carbon monoxide

         13  detecting system must be installed in accordance

         14  with the HPD rules.  In accordance with the

         15  legislation, the placement of carbon monoxide

         16  detecting devices in hospitals and schools is to be

         17  determined by rule.

         18                 Proposed Intro. Number 4A permits the

         19  use of approved combination type devices that can be

         20  used for the detection of carbon monoxide and for

         21  smoke detection.

         22                 Intro. Number 58, which is the second

         23  item on the agenda, was drafted to help more of our

         24  City's elderly and disabled populations to remain

         25  independent by improving accessibility and safety
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          2  within their homes.  This legislation would require

          3  landlords of multiple dwellings to provide grab bars

          4  in bathtubs and shower stalls, and next to the

          5  toilets for any elderly or disabled resident.

          6                 In addition, the bill would mandate

          7  the installation of treads on the floors of showers

          8  and bathtub stalls in such multiple dwellings to

          9  similarly improve the safety of the individuals

         10  residing therein by helping to prevent falls- don't

         11  use that word anymore.  The bill would also mandate

         12  the delivery of notices, on an annual basis, to each

         13  residential unit of a multiple dwelling, advising

         14  the occupants of the obligation of the landlord to

         15  install these protective devices at no cost to the

         16  tenants.

         17                 As always, if there's anyone wishes

         18  to testify, you must sign in with the Sergeant at

         19  Arms, and there will only be one spokesperson per

         20  organization.  Thank you very much.

         21                 I would like to vote on proposed

         22  Intro. Number 4A, but I seem to be lacking some

         23  Committee Members.  We have, what Tony Avella

         24  coming?

         25                 Intro. Number 58, the sponsor is my
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          2  colleague, Council Member Alan Gerson.  So, while

          3  we're trying to round up the Committee to vote,

          4  Alan's going to say a few words on his Intro.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I heard the

          6  Chair's emphasis on the word few, and I appreciate

          7  that.  Let me just say, first of all, Madam Chair,

          8  it's always a pleasure and a privilege and a

          9  productive experience to be able to work with you

         10  and your Committee on any number of issues.  I want

         11  to thank you very much for your leadership and your

         12  commitment, as manifest by your holding this

         13  hearing.  Look forward to continuing to work with

         14  you to come up with a bill that is feasible and

         15  practicable and which, most of all, will save lives.

         16                 I also want to just acknowledge your

         17  Committee Counsel, Terzah Nasser and Sara Marks.

         18  It's -- really working with them really is a

         19  productive experience and one which benefits all of

         20  us.  As I've said, our City is better off, Madam

         21  Chair, because you are the Chair of our Housing and

         22  Buildings Committee.

         23                 This bill, Intro. 58, is about this

         24  piece of apparatus, and you know, sometimes, those

         25  ideas, and in this case, pieces of legislation,
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          2  which make a big difference, are the ones that stare

          3  us in the face, or the ones that are a matter of

          4  common sense, that just require the thought, the

          5  forethought and the political will to apply them.

          6                 Requiring the installation of this

          7  and related pieces of apparatus in the bathrooms of

          8  seniors and persons of all ages with physical

          9  challenges in need, is just a matter of commons

         10  sense.  We are calling this bill the KSS Bill, K- S-

         11  S, Keep Seniors Standing, and truthfully, enacting

         12  this bill would really give our seniors and all who

         13  would benefit from this bill, a great big collective

         14  kiss on the part of all of us.  It's a kiss, which

         15  they deserve, because we're talking about the people

         16  who built our City, who raised all of us, and really

         17  this is the least which they deserve, and the least

         18  we can do.

         19                 While we're calling it the KSS Bill,

         20  I must emphasize, this would apply to and would

         21  benefit all persons of all ages who need this

         22  apparatus for their safety and for their dignity.

         23  This piece of equipment, by the way -- and it's only

         24  upon request, no one would be forced to have this in

         25  their apartments.  But, we are saying, if a senior
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          2  person or a person with a physical challenge, a

          3  person with a disability, feels that they need this

          4  for their protection, for their safety, in the City

          5  of New York, this should be a standard piece of

          6  equipment.

          7                 We should guarantee to those folks

          8  that they can have this installed, and I'll point

          9  out that we do this already as a matter of course in

         10  new construction.  We do this already in our public

         11  housing that's operated by the New York City Public

         12  Housing Authority.  We should bring the rest of the

         13  private sector up to par.

         14                 Without this bill, we know that too

         15  many seniors who live in older stock buildings, in

         16  older buildings, or too many seniors who live in

         17  buildings where for one reason or another owners are

         18  not cognizant or are not following- up, they will do

         19  without this, and their lives and their safety and

         20  their mobility will be imperiled without this piece

         21  of legislation.

         22                 This, what I'm holding in my hand,

         23  cost me -- and I'll conclude on this note Madam

         24  Chair -- cost me, I think $27.98, and that's buying

         25  it as an individual.  If this is required, if this
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          2  legislation is enacted, or I should say once it is

          3  enacted, the price will obviously come down as it's

          4  built on bulk.

          5                 But, the benefits far, far, far

          6  exceed, and you will hear testimony which will point

          7  out the human benefit, the health benefit, the

          8  saving of lives cannot be measured by the $23.00 or

          9  $28.98.  But, beyond that, if you need a cost

         10  benefit analysis, the savings, we as a society will

         11  incur by avoiding emergency room expenses and

         12  expenses in follow- up medical care, far exceed the

         13  cost of purchase and installation.

         14                 But again, we know from experience,

         15  recent and in history, that if we don't require it,

         16  if we don't require its availability upon request,

         17  it won't get done.  I know this is a first hearing.

         18  I know there are details that have to be worked out,

         19  this is social benefit, we don't want impose it on

         20  owners. We want to find the most effective way of

         21  spreading the cost, whether it's through a tax

         22  write- off or a credit or other means. We know that

         23  there are details that have to be worked out.

         24                 The New York State Association for

         25  Affordable Housing came up with a suggested
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          2  improvement on the notice requirement, but I ask the

          3  Administration and I ask all who will testify, let

          4  us focus not on whether or not this should be

          5  enacted, we need to enact it, it's due to our

          6  seniors.  Let's focus on working out the details to

          7  come up with the best possible bill to give our

          8  seniors and all in need the kiss they deserve.

          9  Thank you very much Madam Chair.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you,

         11  Alan.  That was just long enough to get all our

         12  Members together, so thank you. Good timing.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I timed it

         14  that way Madam Chair.

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I know, very

         16  good, and thank you for your kind words.  Okay,

         17  we're going to vote. Who's, oh you're hear, okay.

         18  We're voting on proposed Intro. Number 4A, which is

         19  the local law to amend the Administrative Code of

         20  the City of New York in relation to requiring the

         21  installation of carbon monoxide detecting devices in

         22  buildings classified in categories, classified in

         23  occupancy groups G, H2, J1, J2, J3.  We're ready.

         24                 COUNCIL CLERK: Provenzano.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Yes.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Reyna.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER REYNA:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK: Comrie.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER COMRIE:  Yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Fidler.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER FIDLER:  Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Jackson.

          9                 (No response.)

         10                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Katz.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER KATZ:  Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Oddo.

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER ODDO:  Yes.

         14                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of six in

         15  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         16  abstentions, the item is adopted. Council Member

         17  Rivera.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER RIVERA:  Yes.  Thank

         19  you.

         20                 COUNCIL CLERK: By a vote of seven in

         21  the affirmative, zero in the negative and no

         22  abstentions, the item is adopted.

         23                 Council Members please sign Committee

         24  reports, and the roll will be held open by request

         25  of the Chair.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I heard a

          3  voice from the back.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER JACKSON:  Jackson,

          5  yes.

          6                 COUNCIL CLERK: The vote now stands at

          7  eight in the affirmative, zero in the negative and

          8  no abstentions.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  We could

         10  close it now. We could close it.  That was tough.

         11  Just getting them to stand still long enough to say

         12  yes or no.  Okay, now we move on to the second item,

         13  Intro. Number 58, and --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Madam Chair,

         15  just one logistical announcement if I --

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: May, for those

         18  seniors who are here to testify, and for that matter

         19  anyone else, many of these folks have given up their

         20  lunch hour at the senior centers, there are

         21  refreshments that will be available in the Members

         22  lounge downstairs in a little bit and certainly

         23  following the hearing.  And my colleagues are all

         24  also invited.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  The first

                                                            14

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  folks we'll be calling on are Kelly Henning, Doctor,

          3  Director of the Division of Epidemiology, from the

          4  New York City Department of Health and Mental

          5  Hygiene, and then Lanny Alexander, from, okay, New

          6  York City Commission on Human Rights.  Do you want

          7  to come up also?  All right, let him.  Dr. Henning,

          8  just identify yourself and start.

          9                 DR. HENNING:  I'm Dr. Kelly Henning,

         10  the Director of the Division of Epidemiology at the

         11  New York City Department of Health and Mental

         12  Hygiene.  Good morning, Chairman --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Doctor, could

         14  we, just one hold up.  You want to vote?  Okay.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member

         16  Avella.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA.  Aye.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Are you

         19  going to stay with us a while?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA:  Thank you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER AVELLA: Usually I'm

         23  always here on time, you know that.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  We need

         25  bodies.  Where? Where? Ah, okay, shoot.
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          2                 COUNCIL CLERK:  Council Member James.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER JAMES:  Yes.

          4                 COUNCIL CLERK:  The vote now stands

          5  at ten in the affirmative, zero in the negative and

          6  no abstentions.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Doctor, I'm

          8  sorry.

          9                 DR. HENNING:  Good morning,

         10  Chairwoman Provenzano and Council Housing and

         11  Building's Committee Members.  My name is Dr. Kelly

         12  Henning, and I am the Director of the New York City

         13  Department of Health and Mental Hygiene's Division

         14  of Epidemiology.  I would like to thank the

         15  Committee for its interest in addressing the

         16  important issue of injury prevention.

         17                 While we agree with the intent of

         18  Intro. 58 to increase the availability of safety

         19  devices for individuals at risk for falls, we do not

         20  believe the approach prescribed by this bill

         21  represents the most efficient or cost- effective way

         22  to achieve this goal.

         23                 Falls are a major health problem

         24  among older adults.  One of every three people over

         25  the age of 65 living in the community falls each
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          2  year.  In 2002, the last year for which New York

          3  State Hospital Discharge Data is available, there

          4  were 14,108 hospitalizations from falls among New

          5  York City residents age 65 years and older.  A

          6  little more than half of these falls occurred at

          7  home.  Unfortunately, available hospitalization data

          8  does not allow us to determine the exact location of

          9  at- home falls, which could include falls in

         10  garages, yards and immediately outside the home.

         11                 Falls are the leading cause of

         12  injury- related deaths among seniors nation- wide,

         13  as well as in New York City. Most deaths due to

         14  falls are among those 75 and older.  60 percent of

         15  falls result in physical injury, the most serious of

         16  which include fractures, hip dislocations and head

         17  and internal injuries.  Falls also have serious

         18  psychological effects for the elderly.  Many older

         19  adults avoid activities because they fear falling,

         20  but limiting what they do actually increases their

         21  risk of falling.

         22                 Identifying seniors most at risk for

         23  falls is an important strategy in many prevention

         24  programs.  The U.S. Centers for Disease Control and

         25  Prevention report that white men have the highest
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          2  fall- related death rates, followed by white women,

          3  black men and black women.

          4                 Other important risk factors for

          5  elder falls include being female and white; having

          6  had a previous fall; having lower body weakness or

          7  gait or balance problems or physical limitations

          8  such as visual problems; having more than one

          9  chronic disease or other conditions; being

         10  cognitively impaired; taking more than four

         11  medications or psychoactive medications; and wearing

         12  shoes with thick, soft soles.

         13                 External or environmental factors

         14  that contribute to the risk of falls among older

         15  adults include home hazards, such as clutter, loose

         16  rugs or other tripping hazards, poor lighting,

         17  especially on stairs, and lack of stair railings or

         18  grab bars.

         19                 Fall prevention research suggests

         20  that the most effective prevention strategies are

         21  those designed to reach people at greatest risk of

         22  falling.  That is, elders with a history of one or

         23  more previous falls.  Furthermore, implementation of

         24  a multi- faceted approach to falls prevention is

         25  considered critical to reducing falls among elderly
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          2  in the community.

          3                 Model prevention programs that

          4  include comprehensive education about preventing

          5  falls, home assessments, safety checklists and

          6  access to home repair services have been provided to

          7  states and localities by CDC in a publication

          8  entitled U.S. Fall Prevention Programs for Seniors.

          9  All of the 18 programs described as excellent in

         10  this guidance document including a multi- faceted

         11  approach.

         12                 The utility of single modality fall

         13  prevention strategies is unproven.  Among those

         14  single program strategies that have been

         15  investigated, such as group exercise, nutritional

         16  supplements with things like calcium and vitamin D

         17  and correction of visual deficiency, only

         18  individually prescribed exercise that improves lower

         19  body strength and balance has been shown to decrease

         20  the number of falls and their severity.  Hip pads

         21  can prevent most hip fractures and padded flooring

         22  material, though not proven, may have merit.  Of

         23  particular relevance to today's discussion is the

         24  fact that the current state of research provides

         25  little or no evidence that modifying the home
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          2  environment alone will reduce the risks of falls

          3  among the elderly.

          4                 Since half to two- thirds of falls

          5  among persons 65 and older occur in or around the

          6  home, reducing home hazards and making living areas

          7  safer could include not only bars and similar

          8  assisted, assistive devices, but also removal of

          9  throw rugs and clutter in walkways, installation of

         10  handrails on both sides of stairways, improved

         11  lighting throughout the home and abatement of

         12  slippery floor surfaces.

         13                 It is important to note, however, in

         14  the context of discussing these types of

         15  recommendations, that they are not only unproven at

         16  this point, but that evidence points to their being

         17  insufficient in and of themselves to reduce falls.

         18                 Specifically, according to CDC, and I

         19  quote "researchers have found that simply modifying

         20  the home does not reduce falls."  Likewise, with

         21  respect to promoting exercise, it is important to

         22  note research findings clarifying that improvements

         23  in physical functioning are not only attainable by

         24  the elderly and the very elderly, but also by the

         25  frail elderly. A so- called active lifestyle is not
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          2  a necessary precondition for providing seniors with

          3  strength and balance training as an intervention.

          4                 The March 2001 issue of City Health

          5  Information, the Department's regular bulletin to

          6  the City's health care providers, provided specific

          7  clinical information to practitioners on

          8  interventions to reduce risk factors for falling

          9  among the elderly.  Covering risk assessments for

         10  falls, examination for conditions such as low blood

         11  pressure upon arising; visual and hearing

         12  impairments; walking and balance disorders;

         13  muscular, skeletal and neuromuscular problems; use

         14  of sedatives and multiple prescription drugs; a low

         15  body mass index; anemia; podiatric problems;

         16  cognitive function problems; depression; and daily

         17  functioning, as determined by direct observation and

         18  questions about bathing, dressing, home upkeep and

         19  potential fall hazards.

         20                 Intro. Number 58 would require, in

         21  multiple dwellings with senior and disabled

         22  residents, grab bars in tubs and showers and near

         23  toilets, and treads in tubs and showers. While the

         24  presence of grab bars and treads could potentially

         25  have some value in preventing falls, studies
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          2  indicate that such safety devices alone will have

          3  minimal or no impact on fall prevention.

          4                 With regard to Intro. 58, the bill

          5  essentially clarifies existing law providing for

          6  reasonable accommodation and adds a notification

          7  requirement to ensure that tenants and landlords

          8  know their rights.  The New York City Human Rights

          9  Law currently requires owners to make alternations

         10  to housing accommodations, when necessary, to allow

         11  people with disabilities to live in such housing

         12  safely.  The landlord is obligated to pay for the

         13  alteration, unless it creates a real financial

         14  hardship.

         15                 Grab bars are one example of a low-

         16  cost, minimal alteration in disability law

         17  literature.  Non- slip bathtub and shower treads are

         18  obviously even less burdensome to install, from

         19  either a financial or technical consideration.

         20  Although the Human Rights Law provision does not

         21  specifically include senior citizens, arguably, a

         22  senior citizen would need only a medical note

         23  verifying a condition that compromised stability or

         24  rendered him or her particularly vulnerable to

         25  damaging slips and falls in order to be covered as
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          2  disabled for this limited purpose.

          3                 Although we agree with the intent of

          4  Intro. 58, to increase the availability of safety

          5  devices for individuals at risk for falls, we are

          6  not sure the approach and enforcement mechanism

          7  created by the bill represent the most efficient or

          8  cost- effective way to achieve this goal.

          9                 Intro. 58 obligates DOHMH to oversee

         10  the requirement that landlords notify tenants of

         11  their rights under this bill, but it is somewhat

         12  unclear about what enforcement actions are

         13  contemplated or required.  The bill could require

         14  additional resources, which could be considerable to

         15  enforce this requirement.  In the current fiscal

         16  environment, any expansion of our inspections

         17  activities would have to be financed by cutting

         18  other important public health activities.

         19                 Although we have not had sufficient

         20  time to do a thorough analysis, we believe that

         21  there may be ways to address this issue that would

         22  be most, both more effective and less costly.  We

         23  would appreciate the opportunity to work with the

         24  Council to explore the most effective ways to reduce

         25  injuries and deaths from falls for our elderly and

                                                            23

          1  COMMITTEE ON HOUSING AND BUILDINGS

          2  disabled citizens.  Again, thank you for this

          3  opportunity to discuss this important public health

          4  issue and I'll be happy to answer any questions.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you

          6  very much.  I'm going, I understand, Councilwoman

          7  Brewer, are you here somewhere, needs to vote.

          8                 COUNCIL CLERK: Brewer.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: And then that

         10  will be the whole Committee.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I vote aye,

         12  and I'd like to add my name to the bill.  Thank you

         13  very much.

         14                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         15                 COUNCIL CLERK:  By a vote of 11 in

         16  the affirmative, zero in the negative, the item is

         17  adopted.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I was going

         19  to introduce the Members of the Committee before

         20  they disappeared, but is anybody next to you?  No,

         21  okay.  On my right, Council Member Lew Fidler,

         22  Council Member Robert Jackson, Council Member Alan

         23  Gerson, whose not a Member of the Committee, but

         24  this is his piece of legislation, behind me,

         25  Councilwoman Gale Brewer, and I guess the others
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          2  will be in and out.  Do you have a statement that?

          3                 MS. ALEXANDER:  I was told to come

          4  here just in case you have any questions --

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          6                 MS. ALEXANDER:  -- Regarding the

          7  Human Rights Law.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  So, just to

          9  repeat, where are those two slips, okay, for those

         10  that have questions, we have Dr. Kelly Henning, the

         11  Director of the Division of Epidemiology and Lanny

         12  Alexander, Managing Attorney, New York City

         13  Commission on Human Rights.  Do we have any

         14  questions?  Gale, are you doing anything back there?

         15    Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I don't want

         17  to be before Alan Gerson, it's his bill, but --

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: No, go ahead.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  The quick

         20  question I have is, we do get in our office, which

         21  is why I signed on, you know, quite a few persons

         22  calling, indicating, particularly on the hand bars,

         23  that the owners will not put them into the

         24  apartments. That is a pretty common request.  So, my

         25  question is, is that something that's universal
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          2  around the City?  I know that you're Health, and

          3  that is often a housing issue, but from a housing

          4  perspective, I'm wondering if that's something that

          5  ever comes your way?

          6                 DR. HENNING:  I don't have data on

          7  the number of times the Health Department is called

          8  with regard to grab bars.  We take lots of different

          9  kinds of calls at Health, but that's not something

         10  that I have information available, and I'm not sure

         11  that it actually exists, but I could check.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Well, it

         13  would be a 3- 1- 1 call that --

         14                 DR. HENNING:   Right.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Once it

         16  starts getting tracked, which is the advantage of

         17  the 3- 1- 1 system --

         18                 DR. HENNING: Right.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: But, I just

         20  was wondering, it is a pretty common request, which

         21  is, I think, why Council Member, one of the reasons

         22  Council Member Gerson's bill exists, and it is

         23  something that, you know, as you know, the

         24  discussions between owners and tenants is sometimes

         25  challenging. So, we try to work it out and come up
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          2  with some compromise.  But, it is a pretty regular

          3  request.  But, it's fine.  I just wanted to know if

          4  you had such information.

          5                 DR. HENNING:  I don't have such data,

          6  I'm sorry.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 MS. ALEXANDER:  Excuse me, I could

         10  just tell you that we are often referred those phone

         11  calls from 3- 1- 1, as well as from other agencies.

         12  We either ask the person whose complaining to come

         13  in and file a complaint, or if possible, we will

         14  work with the landlord prior, as an intervention, to

         15  work with the landlord so that accommodation can be

         16  made.  So, we do get a lot of those phone calls.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Council

         18  Member Gerson.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         20  Madam Chair.  I do have a few questions.  First of

         21  all, I want to thank you and the Administration for

         22  your commitment to work with us to achieve the goals

         23  of the bill.  Let me see if I could clarify that.

         24  Does that mean that you are willing to work with the

         25  Council to come up with a piece of legislation that
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          2  would assure that every senior or person with a

          3  physical challenge who requests the installation of

          4  this type of device is assured that he or she will

          5  obtain the installation of the devices covered by

          6  this bill, is that the meaning of your commitment?

          7                 DR. HENNING:  I think that we can't

          8  commit, at this point, to this legislation.  But, I

          9  think that, you know, the Department of Health has a

         10  very keen interest in reducing injuries and in

         11  injury prevention.  So, we'd like to continue to

         12  work toward improving our injury prevention

         13  activities.

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  That's nice.

         15  But, I guess I'm asking, I'm not asking you at this

         16  particular time to commit to the wording of this

         17  legislation.  But I'm asking if you, if the

         18  Administration is willing to make the commitment to

         19  assure that any senior or person with a physical

         20  challenge, who requests this bill, will -- excuse me

         21   -- who requests the installation of this piece of

         22  equipment I'm holding in my hand, would receive the

         23  installation of this piece of equipment that I'm

         24  holding in my hand and, subject to working out the

         25  details of the mechanics and the oversight and the
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          2  notice and everything else in the most cost-

          3  effective way?

          4                 But, would you commit to coming up

          5  with a bill that would give a -- let me rephrase it

          6   -- that would give every senior or person with a

          7  physical challenge who requests it, the legal right

          8  to receive it, to receive installation of this

          9  equipment I'm holding in my hand?  Will you commit

         10  to that goal?

         11                 DR. HENNING:  Yes, I think that we'd

         12  like to again emphasize that we are, the

         13  Administration is anxious to continue to uphold the

         14  Human Rights Law and that we'd like to work through

         15  that mechanism and that thinking about how we could,

         16  in fact, work on this particular issue around grab

         17  bars.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, well

         19  let me ask one or two follow- up, I mean I -- you

         20  know, I agree with you that the Intro. 58

         21  essentially, quoting from your testimony,

         22  essentially clarifies existing law.  That's the

         23  intent and the intent and my colleague, and I'm

         24  always delighted for Council Member Brewer to go

         25  before me, because she always says it so well.  But,
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          2  she really hit the issue at its fore.  The issue is

          3  that the current law requires clarification

          4  precisely because so many seniors and other people

          5  in need make the request, and have to go through a

          6  rigmarole or obstacles to either obtain it, or at

          7  the end of the day, do not obtain the installation

          8  of this equipment for one reason or another.

          9                 In many cases, you have owners who

         10  are not cognizant of the bill.  I've got to tell

         11  you, many seniors are not aware that they might have

         12  a right to this installation.  So, the reason we

         13  have proposed this is to clarify it, so it's crystal

         14  clear to both owners and to seniors, that the law

         15  requires, upon request, the installation of this

         16  apparatus.  What is wrong with making that

         17  clarification?

         18                 DR. HENNING:  I think that, you know,

         19  from the Department of Health's perspective, the

         20  Human Rights Law allows for the installation of grab

         21  bars, and we've talked through that a little in the

         22  testimony.  I think we're, from the Health

         23  perspective, especially interested in education and

         24  outreach, to let seniors know about steps they can

         25  take to prevent injuries and falls to themselves.
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          2  Also, their healthcare providers, to try to educate

          3  healthcare providers to the best, as much as we

          4  possibly can, so that they are also are aware of the

          5  issues.  So, we have a sort of broad, broad

          6  perspective on that.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And I

          8  congratulate you on that.  I concur with that.  I've

          9  got to tell you, when we looked into this bill, part

         10  of what we were interested in doing is a companion

         11  bill, giving the Department the additional resources

         12  and maybe even requirement that there be this kind

         13  of comprehensive approach to fall prevention

         14  education.  So, I'm glad to hear that.

         15                 But, I guess, you know, I guess I'm a

         16  little confused by your testimony.  On one hand, you

         17  say that of course not alone, but in conjunction

         18  with exercise and other measures this could help,

         19  and you're saying that the law allows it and I agree

         20  with you, the law allows it.  The purpose of it is

         21  to make it crystal clear that beyond allowing it, we

         22  are requiring it, if it is requested.

         23                 Let me ask you, as a physician, if a

         24  senior came to you, a senior in your care, whose a

         25  patient, and came to you and said, doctor, I would
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          2  feel a lot better and a lot safer if I had this grab

          3  bar in my bathroom.  Would you ever tell the senior,

          4  no, you should not impose it?

          5                 DR. HENNING:  I think that, you know,

          6  in a provider- patient relationship, there are a lot

          7  of issues that would need to be discussed in that

          8  kind of setting.  Not just about grab bars, but

          9  issues around other things that the senior could do

         10  in their household to prevent them from falling,

         11  exercise programs that might be appropriate for

         12  them, reviewing their medications that they're

         13  currently taking, a broad approach.  But, as a

         14  clinician, no, I mean, I don't think that any

         15  clinician would say, no you can't have it, or no, I

         16  mean I don't think that's, that wouldn't be

         17  accurate.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Let me ask

         19  you another question.  Thank you very much doctor.

         20  You say a little more of half of these falls

         21  occurred at home, and you don't have the data to say

         22  which locations in the home, where the locations

         23  were, where the falls occurred and I understand

         24  that.  But, wouldn't you surmise, as a matter of

         25  common sense, or you know, just information you may
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          2  have gained, gleaned in your position, that a high

          3  proportion of the falls at home take place in what

          4  is probably the most slippery part of the home,

          5  where there's water on the ground, you know, in the

          6  bathroom, or in the bathtub?  I mean, wouldn't that

          7  account, wouldn't you think that would account for a

          8  significant proportion of falls?

          9                 DR. HENNING:  I couldn't say that.  I

         10  actually think that many senior falls are due to

         11  underlying medical conditions, and so that seniors

         12  have lots of sites within their home and outside of

         13  their home where they might fall.  Although 50

         14  percent of home, falls occur within the home, 50

         15  percent occur outside of the home.  So, I think

         16  there are lots and lots of places where we can

         17  intervene, the bathroom being one place. But, many,

         18  many sites where seniors may fall.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  But

         20  intervening in the bathroom with this law would not

         21  preclude intervening elsewhere. I mean --

         22                 DR. HENNING:   I think that's --

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's a

         24  rhetorical question --

         25                 DR. HENNING: Yes, I think the
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          2  important point is that single modality injury

          3  prevention, single modality, no matter what that

          4  modality is, outside of exercise programs, any one

          5  single intervention, whether that be grab bars or

          6  some other single intervention, have not been shown

          7  to reduce falls among the elderly.  That's the point

          8  I think I'm trying to make.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Could you

         10  tell us -- and I'll just conclude after these next

         11  couple of questions.  But, what studies are you --

         12  could you identify any studies which have said that

         13  installation of grab bars do not make a difference?

         14                 DR. HENNING:  There are a number of

         15  studies that have looked at single environmental

         16  interventions --

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But I'm asking

         18  specifically about installation of grab bars.  I'd

         19  like to know is there, and I'd like you to identify

         20  the study, so we can all look at it, which conclude

         21  that an installation of a grab bar has not made any

         22  difference whatsoever?

         23                 DR. HENNING:  I think that I can't

         24  give you a specific citation at this moment.  I

         25  think there actually may be one such study, but I
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          2  can't give it to you right this moment.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay.  If you

          4  could follow-up.  I would like to ask the Mayor's

          5  Office, generally, you know, if you submit written

          6  testimony which purports to set forth -- and this is

          7  directed generally, because this has happened in

          8  other hearings on other issues.  I think as a matter

          9  of course, if the Administration cites studies to

         10  back- up its position, you should do what, you know,

         11  high school students are required by the Department

         12  of Education to do, and that is, to footnote those

         13  studies and include in your written testimony the

         14  reference to the studies, so we don't just have this

         15  type of blanket conclusion, so we could have a more

         16  meaningful dialogue. Again, Doctor, this is not

         17  addressed to you.  But, its addressed to the

         18  Administration generally, and as a procedure for

         19  going forward.

         20                 I'll just conclude on -- and I would

         21  be interested in seeing that one study.  You know,

         22  there's always one study which says anything but

         23  what we want it to say.  But, I would just say that

         24  no one suggested that we install these things and

         25  tell seniors not, you know, and not encourage
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          2  seniors to exercise and not encourage seniors to, or

          3  anybody, to exercise and to make sure their carpets

          4  are, you know, are not hazardous and to deal with

          5  the other hazards, I mean no one.  So, to have, you

          6  know, it's a little misleading, quite frankly, to

          7  say that safety devices alone will have minimal or

          8  no impact, obviously alone.

          9                 But, what we're trying to get at is

         10  an incremental life and health savings.  If these

         11  will have significant incremental impact and nothing

         12  you have said contradicts that, it seems to me -- if

         13  anything, what you have said, with the number of

         14  falls in the home and you refer to grab bars

         15  elsewhere, supports that.

         16                 If it's a matter of clarifying the

         17  bill, again, I think this is something, and I would

         18  hope the Administration would work with us to just

         19  figure out the mechanics of how to do it and not

         20  debate us as to whether or not it should be done.

         21  Because, in the end, Madam Chair, all this bill says

         22  is if a senior or a person with a physical challenge

         23  requests it, it should be done.  By the way, why

         24  does the New York City Public Housing Authority

         25  require this type of installation for seniors?
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          2                 DR. HENNING:  I can't answer that

          3  question, I'm sorry.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I didn't

          5  think you could, but I would just -- if it is -- and

          6  why is this generally installed now in this City in

          7  all new construction, do you know?

          8                 DR. HENNING:  Again, I can't, I

          9  couldn't answer that question, I'm sorry.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Let me make a

         11  suggestion as to the reason, that it was done

         12  because the New York City Housing Authority and

         13  those who oversee and implement and undertake new

         14  construction, have concluded that it does make a

         15  difference.

         16                 So, what we are talking about is the

         17  thousands of seniors who are not in public housing

         18  and are not in new construction, but are living in

         19  existing construction of older stock, and all we're

         20  saying is they should have the same benefits that

         21  those seniors and persons with physical challenges

         22  receive, who currently reside in public housing, or

         23  are fortunate enough to be able to move into new

         24  housing where this is the case.

         25                 You know what? If this was so
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          2  unnecessary, then I think you should go talk to the

          3  folks in public housing, because they obviously are

          4  wasting tax payers' money by requiring it in their

          5  housing.  But, I bet dollars to donuts, that it

          6  really is not unnecessary, and that the cost that we

          7  would receive from installing it far outweigh the

          8  cost of installation if we do it right.  So, if it's

          9  good for one category, it should be good for all

         10  seniors and we're asking you to work with us to make

         11  it possible for all seniors.  Thank you very much

         12  Madam Chair.

         13                 MS. ALEXANDER:  I would just like to

         14  clarify --

         15                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Did you want

         16  to say something?

         17                 MS. ALEXANDER: Yes.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         19                 MS. ALEXANDER:  I'd just like to

         20  remind you all that if a senior or a person with a

         21  disability -- and by the way, the City Human Rights

         22  Law encompasses a whole host of problems, many of

         23  which Dr. Henning has described, and if somebody

         24  comes to us and says, I need an accommodation, it

         25  can be, not only the grab bars, but a whole host of
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          2  things, that we would require a landlord to do,

          3  provided that that is, you know, necessary to

          4  accommodate that particular disability.  And, just

          5  like with NYJEA, the person with the disability has

          6  to request the gab bar, generally speaking --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, I don't

          8  think that's, I think --

          9                 MS. ALEXANDER: Well, some of the

         10  apartments, I think, are retrofitted, but they can

         11  also ask, request for it, give a doctor's

         12  verification that it's needed, and that it's

         13  installed.  If a senior or a disabled person does

         14  not get that in regular non- public housing, they

         15  can come to us and we will take a complaint or do an

         16  intervention to require the landlord to provide

         17  that, provided it is reasonable.

         18                 DR. HENNING:  I think I also would

         19  just like to clarify that the Health Department

         20  doesn't, is not intending to say that we think that

         21  the the grab bars are bad or unhelpful. We're

         22  talking here about, sort of the mechanism of

         23  implementation and discussion around the use of grab

         24  bars.  But it's not, I wouldn't want to leave the

         25  impression that the Health Department thinks their
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          2  bad or not useful in some, you know, circumstances.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, doctor,

          4  I appreciate that clarification, I really look

          5  forward to working with you and the Department and

          6  the Administration, and under the auspices of our

          7  Committee Chair, to come up with the best, most cost

          8  effective mechanism and way of getting it done.

          9                 I would just say to the other point,

         10  I appreciate the opportunity that you have testified

         11  that seniors have.  But, I guess, talk about cost-

         12  effectiveness, seems to me it's a lot more cost-

         13  effective to make it a simple requirement upon

         14  request, than to have seniors have to go down to

         15  your agency, to meet with someone, who has to review

         16  it, file a report, do an investigation and go

         17  through the whole rigmarole, which is both a

         18  financial and a human burden on seniors.  We all

         19  know how these things work and don't work, and I

         20  think, you know, the Human Rights Commission's and

         21  other agency's time can probably be just better

         22  spent if we do what we did with requiring bars on

         23  windows to prevent children from falling out.

         24                 It seems to me, it's very simple,

         25  give an annual notice requirement, let seniors go to
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          2  their owners, let them do it, and then if there's a

          3  problem, they could file a complaint. But, that

          4  seems to be a lot more cost- effective and a lot

          5  less burden on the seniors who are here and those

          6  who are not here, than requiring them to have to

          7  call and go down and file all the reports that, you

          8  know, are now currently necessary to, you know, deal

          9  with what is admittedly an ambiguity or an open area

         10  of current regulations, where the Human Rights Law

         11  allows it, but does not require it, and therefore,

         12  you have to have all this investigation.  This

         13  should be standard as it is in new construction, as

         14  it is in NYJEA, as bars have been on windows to

         15  prevent children from falling.

         16                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I would like

         17  to introduce, though, Council Member Diana Reyna.

         18  Just to clarify, and this is not to take sides, but

         19  it's, I know that a lot of seniors watch this on tv,

         20  and then they come back, so I don't want anybody to

         21  get the wrong impression.  There is no legislation

         22  that requires new housing to have these things put

         23  in.  It's just Local Law 58 requires that they

         24  prepare, I guess the bathroom or whatever, so that

         25  at some point, if the resident requests it, it can
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          2  then be put it.  So, that's the present legislation.

          3                 Also, New York City Housing, it's a

          4  Federal requirement and taken care of by Federal

          5  dollars.  So, that's why it's kind of different in

          6  housing.  But, I just wanted to make that clear so

          7  that, you know, we don't get phone calls, you know,

          8  I'm living in a new construction and, hey, I don't

          9  have any of this equipment.  So --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         11  very much for that clarification Madam Chair.  My

         12  only problem is that I recognize the different

         13  procedural, and in the case of NYJEA, financial

         14  differences, my only point was that there was a

         15  recognition in regulation of the law, in those

         16  situations, as to the need or desirability for this,

         17  and given that recognition, we should make the same

         18  recognition to those seniors who live in the other

         19  housing that's not covered at all --

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Right.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: In either way,

         22  by either those laws or regulations --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: But thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

          3  Thank you very much.  Next, we have Selina Chan, Dr.

          4  Patricia Miller and Frieda Zames --

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Madam Chair, I

          6  believe Ms. Chan had to leave due to a prior --

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Oh --

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: -- Obligation,

          9  but she will be following- up in the future.

         10                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Okay.

         11  Eleanor Korman. Dr. Miller, why don't you start,

         12  just make sure you introduce yourself.  She's not

         13  on.

         14                 PROFESSOR MILLER:  Okay, thank you.

         15  Hello, my name is Dr. Patricia Miller.  I'm a

         16  Professor of Occupational Therapy at Columbia

         17  University and fall prevention has been a specialty

         18  area of mine for the past ten years.

         19                 I'd like to digress from my testimony

         20  a little bit to speak to Dr. Henning's points.  I

         21  agree completely that there's nothing more important

         22  than a multi-factorial approach to falls.  It would

         23  be wonderful if we could have every older person and

         24  disabled person have the education and outreach that

         25  they need, and I would be very happy to be part of
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          2  such an endeavor.

          3                 At the same time, in the systematic

          4  review of the literature that I've conducted, the

          5  fall prevention studies are people who are at high

          6  risk.  They're people who already have had one or

          7  more falls, which means that multi- factorial

          8  approach is critically indicated.

          9                 I think what we're talking about here

         10  is a unilateral approach to start with, of adding

         11  grab bars as a primary prevention measure.  We want

         12  to prevent that first fall from happening, and

         13  certainly, when one person falls, we know one- third

         14  of older adults do fall, 50 percent of those fallers

         15  fall repeatedly.  That's when the serious accidents

         16  and complications occur that affect morbidity and

         17  mortality and certainly quality of life.  So, that's

         18  my response to that.

         19                 I'm really so pleased to be here in

         20  support of the grab bar bill, that I believe has the

         21  potential to reduce staggering human and financial

         22  costs to older adults themselves, to their care

         23  givers and to New York City collectively.

         24                 For more than 25 years I've worked as

         25  a clinician and educator in the field of aging,
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          2  rehabilitation and health promotion.  For the last

          3  15 years, fall prevention has become a critical

          4  component of my teaching and research.  In fact,

          5  each year, I place 35 to 45 students in agencies

          6  around the City, teaching about fall prevention.

          7  So, I agree with Dr. Henning just how important that

          8  is.  I've been an advisor -- excuse me -- to the

          9  National Safety Council, through their Alliance to

         10  Prevent Falls as We Age Committee.   I played a role

         11  in defining fall risks and assisted in the

         12  developmental, develop of strategies to prevent

         13  falls.

         14                 Why is fall prevention of such

         15  critical importance?  According to the Centers for

         16  Disease Control, falls in the home and community

         17  caused or lead to 11,600 deaths in 2001 alone.  We

         18  know that one- third of older adults, 65 years of

         19  age and older fall, and 50 percent do repeatedly.

         20  For those 75 and older, the fall rate each year

         21  increases to 40 percent or more, depending on which

         22  literature you read on the topic.  Of those who

         23  fall, 20 to 30 percent suffer moderate to severe

         24  injuries, such as hip, forearm, leg, hand fractures,

         25  head trauma, that reduce mobility and independence,
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          2  requiring very costly health services, such as

          3  emergency room treatment, hospitalization, a variety

          4  of home care services and/or institutionalization.

          5                 In 2001, for example, more than 1.6

          6  million older adults in the United States were

          7  treated in emergency departments for fall- related

          8  injuries, and nearly 388,000 were hospitalized. Most

          9  patients with hip fractures are hospitalized for

         10  about a week, and up to about 25 percent of

         11  community dwelling older adults sustain hip

         12  fractures and remain institutionalized for at least

         13  a year.

         14                 Of the fall- related deaths, I think

         15  it's important to realize that 41 percent take place

         16  in the home, according to the National Center for

         17  Health Statistics.  The problem will only get worse

         18  if we close our eyes to the needs of older adults,

         19  who will really be us in the not too distant future.

         20                 From 2000 to 2040, the number of

         21  people age 65 or older in the United States is

         22  projected to increase from 34.8 million to 77.2

         23  million.  For people over age 85, the growth rate is

         24  even faster.  Given our aging population, the number

         25  of hip fractures is expected to exceed 500,000 per
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          2  year.

          3                 New York City, as we know, has a

          4  disproportionate number of older adults who are at

          5  the poverty rate, double the national average, 20

          6  versus ten percent.  As the population ages, older

          7  New Yorkers will require more public health service,

          8  and research shows that 80 percent of the elderly

          9  want to age in place in their own homes.

         10                 Families assist their older relatives

         11  to stay at home, creating a loss in workforce

         12  productivity that, according to a report by Metlife,

         13  costs private industry $29 billion a year in lost

         14  revenues from care giving responsibilities.  As New

         15  Yorkers age, so will their adult care giving family

         16  members, who become more vulnerable themselves to

         17  stress- related illnesses and injuries, such as

         18  those sustained from lifting and transferring their

         19  relatives on and off toilets and in and out of

         20  bathtubs.

         21                 I've just painted a pretty dismal

         22  picture for you, but there's some good news.

         23  There's evidence- based research to indicate that

         24  many falls are preventable.  In recent research that

         25  I conducted with a colleague, the majority of older
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          2  adults in the study reported lack of confidence in

          3  being able to get in and out of the bathtub without

          4  falling.  We know that lack of confidence results in

          5  restricted activity.  Fear of falling, and that in

          6  itself, becomes a vicious cycle, increasing people's

          7  chances of falling as with disuse muscle, atrophy.

          8                 It's not surprising really, that

          9  people are afraid of getting out of their bathtubs.

         10  Slippery surfaces in the homes have been identified

         11  as a major risk factor for falls.  Several

         12  intervention studies conducted in our Country, in

         13  England, Australia and in Scandinavia, include

         14  recommendations to install grab bars in the

         15  bathroom, as well as using bathtub and shower safety

         16  treads in order to reduce fall risks.

         17                 If one looks on the websites of the

         18  National Safety Council, the National Council on

         19  Aging, the Centers for Disease Control, we will

         20  consistently see the importance of prevention

         21  strategies mentioned, such as home safety

         22  modifications, if we're going to meet the objectives

         23  of the nation of reducing falls, serious injuries

         24  and their costly complications.  The list of

         25  modifications by these organizations always include
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          2  installation of grab bars in the bathroom.

          3                 Advocacy for the elderly and action

          4  on a community- wide basis are essential if we are

          5  going to maximize safe functioning for our older

          6  adults.  The U.S. Health Department, according to

          7  the extensive report, Healthy People 2010, stated

          8  that no progress has been made toward the targeted

          9  objectives in the area of reducing unintentional

         10  injuries. Passing this bill will be a very important

         11  step in that direction.  Thank you.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         13  I'm going to ask the two folks with you to testify,

         14  and then, if we have questions we'll take questions

         15  for all three of you.  And, I would also like to say

         16  that I'm not putting the clock on anybody today.

         17  So, I just expect you to use your own good judgment

         18  in not speaking too long.  Thank you.

         19                 DR. ZAMES:  Good afternoon, I'm Dr.

         20  Frieda Zames, a Board Member of Disabled in Action,

         21  the Center for the Independence of the Disabled in

         22  New York and the Disability Network of New York

         23  City.  Grab bars are not only important for seniors,

         24  but also for people with many types of disabilities

         25  who are not seniors.  To name a few, multiple
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          2  sclerosis, muscular dystrophy, cerebral palsy,

          3  spinal cord injury and post- polio syndrome, which

          4  is what I have.

          5                 I just want to make the point

          6  accessible public rest rooms generally have grab

          7  bars, accessible hotel rooms have grab bars around

          8  toilet, bathtub and shower areas. Unfortunately,

          9  apartments, where people with disabilities and as

         10  seniors live, however, most often don't have needed

         11  grab bars. So, I think that's good -- it's something

         12  I thought of.

         13                 Anyway, some of us start out walking,

         14  but then eventually require wheelchairs or scooters

         15  to get around.  We, those of us who use wheelchairs

         16  and scooters -- I started out walking -- need grab

         17  bars also.  So, it's not only the walking people,

         18  but people who use wheelchairs.  In either case,

         19  grab bars are a great benefit.  If, for example --

         20  I, for example, use the toilet -- the towel racks in

         21  my bathroom as grab bars.  Not a very safe thing to

         22  do, but so far, it's worked fine.

         23                 I just want to make the point that I

         24  get a paper, I'm in a co-op, every year that asks

         25  about window guards for children.  Are we going to
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          2  get a paper that asks about grab bars? Because I'll

          3  tell you, it makes asking for them a lot easier, you

          4  know, you don't have to special ask for them, you

          5  just check off -- and I just want to say, on behalf

          6  of the disability community, I thank the Committee

          7  for passing this legislation.

          8                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

          9                 MS. KORMAN:  My name is Eleanor

         10  Korman.  I'm the Chairman of the Board of The Caring

         11  Community, that services seniors in Greenwich

         12  Village and Lower Manhattan.  I want to thank you

         13  all for taking the time to listen to us.  I want to

         14  thank the Council for really hearing this, and Alan

         15  Gerson for bringing it sharply to our attention, as

         16  he did before.

         17                 We have had a contract with the

         18  Department for the Aging for the past 15 years,

         19  which allows us to go in and put in grab bars for

         20  those seniors who need them and who need them at no

         21  cost.  We have had not that much difficulty with the

         22  landlord, but it is an issue in having to ask for

         23  them.  Our purpose is to help our seniors stay in

         24  the community independently, for as long as they are

         25  able to.
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          2                 I was very interested in hearing

          3  Professor Miller talk about the insecurities that

          4  come after some sort of an issue.  I had a hip

          5  fracture, getting in and out of the bathtub was a

          6  major issue.  Getting to use the toilet was a major

          7  issue. I was able to get grab bars.  What we have to

          8  really think about, is not only the prevention of

          9  the accident, but an accident can happen to anybody.

         10    Sciatica, you can get that when you're in your

         11  30's, 40's, 50's.

         12                 Any one of us, who has one of these

         13  problems, knows what it means to have the security

         14  of being able to use your own toilet comfortably and

         15  not have as much pain when you have to get up.  So,

         16  that I really have to thank everybody here for their

         17  interest and I want you to know that our senior

         18  members and our staff and board at The Caring

         19  Community are very much behind this effort.  Thank

         20  you.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         22  Council Member Brewer.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         24  very much.  For Professor Miller, I have a question.

         25    This may be an assumption and I may be wrong, but,
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          2  the fact of the matter is, obviously, those who live

          3  in homes in suburban communities or rural

          4  communities, it's my experience that if a person

          5  grows older and they want a grab bar, they put one

          6  in.

          7                 But, we are in rental apartments,

          8  mostly, in our City, and I'm just wondering, I must

          9  admit, I was ignorant, I didn't know that the law

         10  was so clear, maybe it isn't, that one can just

         11  request it and it appears if one requests it of the

         12  owner.  So, I know I'm being a little facetious in

         13  saying that. The reason I ask, is that, is there a

         14  difference in any, or has any studies shown that

         15  perhaps because those of us living in cities are in

         16  a rental situation, that we tend to fall more, or is

         17  it just probably not something that's been studied,

         18  or there are no statistics?

         19                 I ask because, as I indicate, when

         20  one is in an older situation, private home, it would

         21  seem to me that, I know from my experience with my

         22  parents, they put in a grab bar as soon as they felt

         23  they needed it, and put it in.  It was something

         24  that was just assumed in a suburban community, but

         25  that's not my experience in urban America.
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          2                 PROFESSOR MILLER:  Okay.  I'm not

          3  sure I know the answer from a research perspective,

          4  but from my clinical experience and what I read, I

          5  would say that people like your parents are not

          6  necessarily representative and that they might have

          7  more financial resources, and perhaps, might have

          8  more education about fall prevention strategies and

          9  injury prevention, in general, than many of our New

         10  Yorkers and urban dwellers around the county.

         11                 I know from many studies that

         12  recommendations are always made to people when

         13  researchers and clinicians go into the home for grab

         14  bar installations.  But, less than half of those

         15  people actually get them installed because of lack

         16  of finances and because of fear and discomfort and a

         17  stigma they feel about asking.  So, I think the

         18  combination of education and getting a letter that's

         19  going to say, you can have them, you're entitled,

         20  could make all the difference in the world.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  In The Caring

         22  Community, do you have a grant that enables you to

         23  do this?

         24                 MS. KORMAN:  Yes, so that we can do

         25  this at not cost to the client, which is really an
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          2  excellent thing, because they just have to call us

          3  and request it.  We do get referrals. If a homemaker

          4  comes from St. Vincent's Hospital or a local

          5  hospital, that the client needs it, and then we are

          6  able to help them.

          7                 But, the important thing is, most

          8  people are unaware of it, as a preventive device, so

          9  that this is something that we have tried to use in

         10  our education of our seniors.  We also try to show,

         11  have exercises that are generally helpful to them,

         12  and we do have medical statements from, you know,

         13  doctors will come in to talk about the need for

         14  calcium, et cetera.  I know that it is not a one-

         15  pronged approached.  But, for $25.00 to $27.00, it

         16  can save an awful lot of money, and I think,

         17  politically, this may be the time that we can get it

         18  through.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I certainly

         20  support the bill and I'm a sponsor, but my question

         21  is, according to Dr. Henning and to the Health

         22  Department, if one requests it, say one doesn't know

         23  about Caring Community --

         24                 MS. KORMAN: You've got to live in our

         25  catchment area --
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I know your

          3  catchment area, and I know how terrific you are.

          4  But, if one doesn't live there and one doesn't have

          5  a grant in the area, one is living elsewhere --

          6                 MS. KORMAN:  That's right. --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Then the

          8  question is, if one requests it, at least in my

          9  experience, with the constituents on the Westside,

         10  sometimes we get it and sometimes we don't --

         11                 MS. KORMAN: Sometimes you don't.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  And, it's

         13  always a negotiation, which is not what it should

         14  be.

         15                 MS. KORMAN: And if a landlord wants

         16  to get somebody out of the apartment, that is just

         17  one more thing they'll play.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  So, I think,

         19  if you were to request it, as advocating for one of

         20  the seniors, and you -- are you able to do that?  I

         21  know in your case, you can certainly pay for it

         22  because you have the grant, but has Caring Community

         23  ever just tried to do it, or you just do it as part

         24  of your grant?

         25                 MS. KORMAN:  We do it as part of our
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          2  total program.  But you're starting me thinking, and

          3  I think that one of the things we may have to do is

          4  do some research within the five or 600 people we

          5  serve daily, to try to make sure that everybody has

          6  this --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Right.

          8                 MS. KORMAN: Do they know what it is

          9   --

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And what the

         11  law is --

         12                 MS. KORMAN:-- And what the law is,

         13  and if they don't have the availability of funds, we

         14  may have to do some fundraising --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: Okay.

         16                 MS. KORMAN:  --  Because our grants

         17  are not that big.

         18                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Thank you

         19  much.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Actually,

         21  Madam Chair, I think the testimony of these

         22  witnesses, and my colleague, Council Member Brewer's

         23  questioning and their responses were so thorough and

         24  so eloquent, that I have no further questions to

         25  make.  I just want to make two points.
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          2                 First, I want to thank Professor

          3  Miller for including the footnotes and study

          4  references in your written testimony.  That is, in

          5  fact, very helpful.

          6                 Secondly, again, to underscore the

          7  point that Council Member Brewer has made, the issue

          8  really is closing and clarifying a gray area in the

          9  Human Rights Law, so seniors don't have to go

         10  through the type of negotiation or obstacles or

         11  difficulties in getting something that should happen

         12  as a matter of course, upon request.

         13                 There's nothing in the current Human

         14  Rights Law, Madam Chair, which says that a senior,

         15  upon request, must receive a grab bar and the

         16  related equipment.  Nowhere does that currently

         17  appear.  It says, the Human Rights Law, if you look

         18  at Dr. Henning's testimony, she gets this correct,

         19  it says that owners are required to make alterations

         20  to accommodate people with disabilities to live in

         21  housing safely.  It leaves open what that is, if

         22  they require a bureaucratic process, and certainly

         23  it does not address the point which Professor Miller

         24  made about prevention.

         25                 So, experience, as well as the
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          2  reading of the law, certainly, clearly indicates

          3  that clarification with respect to this would be

          4  helpful, and is, in fact, imperative, and that's why

          5  we have introduced this legislation.

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

          7  Thank all of you.  Next people to testify, Andrew

          8  Hoffman, from CHIP, Frank Ricci, RSA and Steven

          9  Barrison, from, I'm not sure where he's from.

         10  Steven Barrison?  Okay.

         11                 MR. RICCI:  Thank you Madam Chair and

         12  Members of the Committee --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: He signed up

         14  for the wrong hearing?  Okay, then you're on guys.

         15                 MR. RICCI:  My name's Frank Ricci,

         16  I'm the Director of Government Affairs for the Rent

         17  Stabilization Association.  RSA, as you know, is the

         18  trade association in New York City that represents

         19  most apartment building owners.  We have about

         20  25,000 members, and collectively, that means that we

         21  represent about one million units of housing in New

         22  York City, some of it co- op and/or condo, the

         23  majority of it rental, obviously.

         24                 I just want to -- I have a few

         25  remarks and I think everything that's been said so
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          2  far here today, we're pretty much in agreement with.

          3    This is a very well intentioned bill.  What

          4  everyone seems to be dancing around is cost, and

          5  that's the issue for our members, is cost.

          6                 If I can just give you a little bit

          7  of engineering background on this, these aren't --

          8  it's not the $50.00 or $60.00 that these grab bars

          9  might cost.  You just don't screw them into a wall.

         10  They need to be either hit a stud, or they need to

         11  have a plate behind the wall to disperse the force

         12  that when someone puts their full body weight on, so

         13  that the bar doesn't come down and even cause a more

         14  serious injury by falsely, you know, putting all

         15  your confidence in a bar.

         16                 So, the cost involved, and I've

         17  canvased our members, since I had a meeting several

         18  months ago with Councilman Gerson on this, is

         19  anywhere's from $250.00 at the low end, and that's

         20  because of the labor involved, and it could easily

         21  go up to over $1,000.00 in old tenements, where you

         22  still have a plaster tub surround area, which has to

         23  come completely down to the wooden lath, then put a

         24  plate up behind the lath and then re plaster the tub

         25  surround.  So, I know that Mr. Hoffman from CHIP has
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          2  done some research on some ways of offsetting the

          3  costs with some existing City programs.  You know,

          4  we're committed to continue to work with the

          5  Councilman to also find some ways to pay for this.

          6                 I think that there's been several

          7  comments here today about how the Housing Authority

          8  does it and the difference is, that's every tax

          9  payer in the City, and then you can make the

         10  argument in the nation, you're spreading the cost

         11  amongst all tax payers, you're not just saddling an

         12  individual owner with it, which is the problem for

         13  our membership.

         14                 I did want to point out one other

         15  thing in the bill, which I think, ultimately, needs

         16  to be corrected, and there's a line in this bill

         17  that precludes an owner from getting any kind of

         18  repayment from a tenant, if they wanted it.  That,

         19  in our estimation -- right now, under the Rent

         20  Stabilization Code, a rent controlled or rent

         21  stabilized tenant is -- if they've requested this,

         22  and they wanted to pay for it, doing the individual

         23  apartment improvement route, which means that the

         24  owner can charge them 1/40th of the cost, they're

         25  allowed to do that, if a senior wants it installed
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          2  and wants to pay for it.

          3                 By you precluding that in this,

          4  you're, in my estimation and the estimation of, you

          5  know, attorneys we've talked to, your violating the

          6  URSTADT Law.  So, I don't think, under this bill,

          7  you would be allowed to have a line on that.  So, I

          8  don't know if you want Mr. Hoffman -- that's

          9  basically my comments.  And, as I said to you,

         10  Councilman Gerson, when we met, we're committed to

         11  exploring all possibilities and we're open to that.

         12                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Yes, you

         13  want to give your testimony and then we'll --

         14                 MR. HOFFMAN: My name is Andrew

         15  Hoffman.  I'm the President of the Community Housing

         16  Improvement Program.  A property owner trade

         17  association.  I'm also the owner/operator of rental

         18  housing in New York City.  I find myself, again, in

         19  front of the City Council, commenting on proposed

         20  legislation that, if enacted, would create an

         21  unnecessary burden to the housing industry.

         22                 Seniors and persons with disability

         23  need help. Having grab bars installed in the

         24  bathrooms of seniors and persons with disabilities

         25  is a great idea.  That's why Local Law 58 of 1987
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          2  was passed.  Local Law 58 provides a road map for

          3  all apartments to be handicapped accessible when

          4  renovations take place.  I'm sure in the last 15

          5  years, tens of thousands of apartments were required

          6  to be renovated using the accessibility

          7  specifications.

          8                 Additionally, the Federal Americans

          9  with Disability Act of 1990 and the Federal Fair

         10  Housing Amendment requires certain reasonable

         11  accommodations to be made when requested.  I believe

         12  that Intro. 58 is an unnecessary piece of

         13  legislation that will only increase costs of

         14  property owners and ultimately increase rents to all

         15  tenants.

         16                 A single grab bar costs at least

         17  $300.00, as Frank said.  I've gotten a number of

         18  estimates to have them installed. Most bathrooms

         19  will require three to four grab bars.  Initially,

         20  the installation of the stair treads would cost

         21  approximately $200.00 per bathroom, and then you got

         22  to add the cost of having them removed, because many

         23  times I install them in apartments, and the next

         24  person who moves in, is not in need of grab bars and

         25  they believe that it's unsightly and inconvenient
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          2  and they don't want the grab bar.

          3                 I believe the only thing Intro. 58

          4  will accomplish is to require installations in an

          5  apartment where it's not truly necessary because of

          6  the intense notice requirements.  Every year, we'd

          7  have to give a notice out, and I truly believe that

          8  many people would opt in, just because their

          9  neighbors do it or they have the ability to do it

         10  and they didn't know about it and they don't it, but

         11  they're opting in anyway.  To put the full financial

         12  burden on property owners is also very interesting

         13  in light of the fact that it appears that the City

         14  Council currently provides grants for grab bar

         15  installations.

         16                 I couldn't help to notice but on the

         17  Mayor's, the Mayor's Office for People with

         18  Disabilities website, I discovered a program called

         19  Project Metropair, which builds itself as a home

         20  safety repair program for individuals over 60 years

         21  old.  I'll take a moment, I got this off the website

         22  this morning and Project Retropair (sic) says, in

         23  contract with the Metropolitan New York coordinating

         24  Council of Jewish Property and the New York City

         25  Department for the Aging operates Project Metropair.
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          2    This program, funding by a grant from the New York

          3  City Council, is a home safety and security repair

          4  program for individuals over 60 years old and for

          5  people with disabilities.

          6                 This mobile service, among other

          7  things, will provide smoke alarms, security viewers

          8  and grab bars.  Project Metropair can be reached at,

          9  if you like, I called this morning, (212) 453- 9542.

         10    I spoke to a nice woman this morning and this is

         11  exactly what they do, you call up, they'll send a

         12  mobile technician to an apartment and install a grab

         13  bar.  I think it's great.  I appreciate the City

         14  Council funding this.  I fully think that the City

         15  Council should spend more money in Project

         16  Metropair, advertise it, do your work.  Please don't

         17  put the financial burden on us.  It's not fair.  I

         18  pay a lot in my City taxes for my apartment

         19  buildings and I fund Project Metropair, through my

         20  taxes.  It's a great program.  I appreciate it.

         21                 Additionally, before the City Council

         22  moves forward with this bill, I would respectfully

         23  suggest that a review of the URSTADT will be

         24  conducted.  As we know, the URSTADT well prohibits

         25  the City from adopting more stringent laws affecting
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          2  rental housing and Intro. 58 certainly appears to be

          3  more stringent than the State law.  I thank you for

          4  the opportunity to come here and speak to you today.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

          6  Do we have any questions?  Gale?

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I appreciate

          8  your testimony.  The question I have is, under the

          9  Human Rights Law currently, do you know of

         10  situations where somebody brings a doctor's note, et

         11  cetera, and is eligible for the owner to pay under

         12  the current law?  Does that how it works currently?

         13                 MR. RICCI:  I think what really

         14  happens in, now, under the Human Rights Law, is that

         15  a tenant will go to an owner with or without a

         16  doctor's note, and they will say, I want grab bars

         17  installed, and they'll make a complaint with the

         18  Human Rights Commission.  That's what I heard the

         19  representative say. I think, at some point, the

         20  owner makes an economic decision, do I want to hire

         21  an attorney for a couple hundred dollars an hour and

         22  go down to hearing after hearing at the Human Rights

         23  Law and argue that I don't need to put it in under

         24  the Human Rights Law or the Handicapped

         25  Accessibility Law, or do I just want to do it. And,
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          2  I think they make an economic business decision, and

          3  say, it's cheaper just to go ahead and do it than to

          4  keep paying a lawyer to go down and argue it.  And,

          5  I think that's what really happens.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  In new

          7  housing to date, under old 58, Local Law 58 ADA,

          8  grab bars are installed as a matter of course? I

          9  don't know --

         10                 MR. HOFFMAN: It's either --

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- The answer

         12  to that --

         13                 MR. HOFFMAN: The grab bar or the

         14  plate behind the wall --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: That would

         16  make it --

         17                 MR. RICCI:  -- To accommodate the

         18  grab bar at some future point in time.  But, I know,

         19  from personal experience, as the owner of a building

         20  and in doing renovations where I've required a

         21  building alteration permit that I was not allowed to

         22  alter the bathroom unless I had put grab bars in.

         23                 The plan examiner would not approve

         24  any plans and the final C of O inspection would not

         25   -- the plan examiner at the Department of Buildings
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          2  wouldn't approve a set of plans for you to do an

          3  alteration, unless you were accommodating grab bars,

          4  and then, at the completion of any kind of work like

          5  that, you have to get an inspection by a plumbing

          6  inspector, as well as a final C of O, Certificate of

          7  Occupancy inspection.  Those inspectors won't sign

          8  off on the final job, unless you have the grab bars

          9  or the accommodation for future grab bars.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  All right.

         11  So, in buildings that are new, then, one -- or

         12  renovated and requiring an alteration permit, if one

         13  wanted to request one, then the infrastructure, sort

         14  of speak, would be there and it would be a lot less

         15  expensive?  It would --

         16                 MR. RICCI: Correct.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Basically

         18  be the cost, as opposed to the --

         19                 MR. RICCI: Correct.

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Sort of

         21  retrofitting --

         22                 MR. RICCI: Right.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  -- Of

         24  apartments --

         25                 MR. RICCI: Right.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: So, what we're

          3  talking about is, where there's probably a perhaps

          4  lower income individual living in an apartment, you

          5  know, independent living, and wants that request.

          6                 MR. RICCI:  Correct.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  Okay.  Thank

          8  you.

          9                 MR. HOFFMAN: I'm sorry, you're

         10  probably talking about a million rent- regulated

         11  units --

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: I'm very

         13  familiar with that number, Frank would never let me

         14  forget it --

         15                 MR. HOFFMAN: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER: And I would

         17  never let him forget the number.  Thank you very

         18  much.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Oh, not so

         20  soon, gentlemen.

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Wait, can't

         22  get away from Alan.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Just, but I

         24  won't be too long.  First of all, I want to, Mr.

         25  Ricci, let me first of all thank you for your
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          2  commitment and your open- mindedness to really

          3  working with the Council and working with us

          4  constructively to figure out a way.  I make the

          5  commitment, as I made to you when we met, I made the

          6  commitment publicly, that I sincerely want to work

          7  with you and with the industry to find a feasible,

          8  equitable way of sharing the costs broadly.  Not

          9  imposing it on the individual tenants, but to

         10  sharing it broadly across the society in a way that

         11  works and is fair to the owners.

         12                 We have, subsequent to our meeting,

         13  requested HPD to do an analysis, both financial and

         14  legal, HPD, being the Department of Housing,

         15  Preservation and Development, to do an analysis as

         16  to the feasibility of allowing a write- off of the

         17  cost against the property taxes, which owners pay.

         18  There are other ways, other possibilities of

         19  spreading the costs, so that they're imposed on

         20  neither the particular owners, nor the seniors who

         21  require this installed.

         22                 I commit to working with you to

         23  exploring and coming up with a workable solution.

         24  This was a first hearing.  I mean, I don't think the

         25  Metropair program is -- I think we all recognize its
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          2  inherent limitations and that's not going to work

          3  for the retrofitting that we're talking about.  Do

          4  you know how many grab bars were, Mr. Hoffman,

          5  installed under that program during the last year?

          6                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Nope.

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  You don't

          8  know.  You did all the other research, but you

          9  didn't find that out.

         10                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Do you know?

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I'm doing the

         12  questioning at the moment, but we will -- but you're

         13  the one who brought up that program as a solution,

         14  so I'm asking you if before you did, if you bothered

         15  to find out how many grab bars the available funding

         16  would allow to be installed before you suggest that

         17  as a solution?

         18                 MR. HOFFMAN:  I'm actually not

         19  suggesting a solution --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Oh, I thought

         21  you were, I'm sorry --

         22                 MR. HOFFMAN: No, what I'm suggesting

         23  is that it's a program, it's a project that's in

         24  place already and I think you should --

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The question
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          2  is --

          3                 MR. HOFFMAN: I think you should --

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Is it

          5  sufficient --

          6                 MR. HOFFMAN:  -- Fund.  You know

          7  what? I think that you guys should look at funding

          8  this to whatever extent is necessary in order to

          9  provide enough grab bars.  It would be very

         10  interesting to understand how many requests they

         11  actually had.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  It would be

         13  very interesting to find out how widely known this

         14  is --

         15                 MR. HOFFMAN: Okay.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- And

         17  whether or not the current funding, the feasible

         18  funding is sufficient to accommodate the need about

         19  which we have heard testimony to both prevent and to

         20  accommodate those who have problems.  Would there be

         21  anything wrong with a program along the lines of

         22  what I just outlined.  If there were, I'm just

         23  saying, hypothetically, if it were possible to give

         24  owners a credit or a write- off against taxes, or

         25  some other mechanism, Mr. Hoffman, would there be
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          2  anything inherently wrong with that type of a

          3  program?

          4                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Well, I think it's

          5  something we can all talk about.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Can you talk

          7  into the microphone, so we could hear you.

          8                 MR. HOFFMAN:  I think it's something

          9  we can all talk about.

         10                 MR. RICCI:  Actually, if I could just

         11  respond to that as a follow- up to the meeting that

         12  you and I had on this, where we were talking about

         13  things like J51 and whatever --

         14                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Yes.

         15                 MR. RICCI:  -- You know that, our

         16  further research shows that that doesn't work,

         17  because that's -- unfortunately, with J51, which is

         18  an exemption or an abatement, it's usually just an

         19  exemption from taxes on the improvement you made.

         20  The City just, you know, they learned a long time

         21  ago, then, they just go and raise the assessment

         22  anyway.  So, that doesn't work. But, a tax credit,

         23  maybe combined with the Metropair program, as talked

         24  about, a tax credit would work.

         25                 But, I don't see where an exemption
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          2  from future taxation -- it's, when you operate

          3  rental housing in New York City, it's all about cash

          4  flow.  It's all about having the money to pay the

          5  guy who's coming to your house that day, to do the

          6  work, which is why the exemption angle doesn't work,

          7  but the credit would ultimately work, so that at the

          8  end of the year, you're going to have more money in

          9  your pocket to pay that guy.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And again, I

         11  was hoping that we would have heard from the

         12  Administration's testimony the results of the

         13  request of the analysis, which we requested.

         14  Apparently, they have not completed that.  So, I'm

         15  eagerly looking forward to their completion of that

         16  analysis, in terms of the possible different ways of

         17  absorbing or sharing the cost of this, and then I

         18  look forward to following up with you.

         19                 I'm quite confident that there's got

         20  to be a way. I'm quite confident that with any kind

         21  of improvement, whether it was the window guards to

         22  prevent falls, or even the passage of Local Law 58,

         23  to which you cited, that we heard similar type of

         24  objections, in terms of costs, in terms of fairness,

         25  in terms of the horrors which would result, and yet
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          2  we went ahead and did it and it saved lives, and it

          3  saved health and we're a lot better off as a

          4  society.  I'm quite confident that there's got to be

          5  a way to make this done.  To get this done to serve

          6  all those, both from a prevention and a remediation

          7  perspective, those who would benefit from this, and

          8  hence, saving us money.

          9                 I guess my last question is, well,

         10  it's really more of a clarification.  Again, we're

         11  talking, essentially now, given your testimony,

         12  about what is current practice in putting in

         13  infrastructure for this apparatus in new building.

         14  We are, really, in fact, talking about retrofitting

         15  existing buildings that are not under significant

         16  renovation.  For clarification, that's really the

         17  universe we're talking about, is that --

         18                 MR. RICCI:   Correct.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- Correct?

         20                 MR. RICCI:  Sure.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And Mr.

         22  Hoffman, you're $300.00 citation for the expense,

         23  that includes the full cost, including the labor and

         24  the installation and the plate, that's everything,

         25  is that, that's not just the purchase of this, is
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          2  that correct Mr. Hoffman?

          3                 MR. HOFFMAN:  No.  It's for supply

          4  and install, correct.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Supply --

          6                 MR. HOFFMAN: Supply and install --

          7                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- And that

          8  would probably, the $300.00, that probably be, in

          9  the worst case scenario, in the older units where

         10  you require greater work done to have the plate to

         11  sure up the impact of installation, it wouldn't be a

         12  more, you know, a current, modern building, like one

         13  of which I'm aware, where the superintendent just

         14  came up and you know, screwed something like this in

         15  within the course of five to seven minutes?  Is that

         16  correct?

         17                 MR. HOFFMAN:  It's someplace in

         18  between a new building and a building that Frank

         19  described in a tenement, where the entire bathroom

         20  would have to be rehabbed in order to --

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: The $300.00

         22  cost, that is --

         23                 MR. HOFFMAN: It's in the middle --

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- It's in

         25  the middle --
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          2                 MR. RICCI: Councilman, I would

          3  suspect of any installation where someone just comes

          4  in and uses a few plastic anchors, or even toggle

          5  bolts and puts a grab bar in and then to have

          6  somebody put their full weight on it, expecting that

          7  that's going to hold.  To me, you know, often times

          8  bathroom walls get spongy in the back, and that's

          9  why you -- and so, you can't even count on the

         10  sheetrock or whatever holding, you really need to

         11  hit a stud behind there, or have a plate that really

         12  distributes the full weight and the force throughout

         13  the whole wall.  So, if it was just a question of

         14  screwing these things in --

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: No, no --

         16                 Mr. RICCI:   We wouldn't be talking,

         17  and that's the difference.  You made the analogy

         18  with window guards.  That's the difference.  Window

         19  guards are basically $10.00 to $20.00 a window

         20  guard.  The tenant's responsible for $10.00 per

         21  window guard.  This is a much more costly

         22  installation we're talking about, if it's done right

         23   --

         24                 MR. HOFFMAN:  -- And I'm sure we

         25  wouldn't want a scenario in place where somebody who
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          2  doesn't have a grab bar is entering their bathtub in

          3  some manner that somebody who has a grab bar is

          4  relying on that grab bar, putting their full weight

          5  on that grab bar, only for that grab bar to fail --

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: Well, of

          7  course, just with the window guards, we don't want a

          8  loose thing that a child will fall out of.  Of

          9  course, if we're going to do it, we want to do it

         10  right.  I'm suggesting, with your testimony, that

         11  currently it's -- and of Mr. Ricci's testimony,

         12  that, the legal rigmarole, which owners have to go

         13  through in terms of deciding whether or not to

         14  appeal the issue of the Department of Human Rights

         15  and incur legal expenses.  That if we have a bill

         16  that is clear and direct and straightforward with a

         17  reasonable cost offset mechanism, that will work to

         18  the benefit, first and foremost to the seniors and

         19  of the owners as well.  That is the goal to which I

         20  would like to work.

         21                 My last question, Mr. Hoffman, since

         22  you cited numbers, the $300.00, do you have any idea

         23  of how much money that will save society, not

         24  owners, but save society in fall prevention or

         25  remediation?
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          2                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Well, I'm sure that

          3  there would be a tremendous cost savings to both the

          4  Medicare and the Medicaid system.  I would also

          5  suggest that, and I'll be more than happy to do it

          6  with you, we all look at what type of reimbursement

          7  is available.  I know certain medical equipment, if

          8  purchased with a doctor's prescription through the

          9  Medicare Medicaid system, such as a commode seat, or

         10  they have the, the steps that go into a shower, an

         11  external device, I'm sure that those costs can be

         12  covered effectively through Medicare and Medicaid --

         13                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: If it's after

         14  the fact. The issue is in terms of prevention and we

         15  need to explore all possible ways.  Clearly, we're a

         16  better society if we prevent problems in the first

         17  place.

         18                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Just to please remember

         19  that there are many of our members whose monthly

         20  income on a specific apartment could be three, four,

         21  five hundred dollars, and the installation of a grab

         22  bar, while certainly necessary, is going to take

         23  three month's rental income and they cannot bear

         24  that cost.  I think society needs to help bearing

         25  that cost.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, let's

          3  work together to figure that out.  You know, if we

          4  require it, as we suggest, it would also reduce the

          5  per item cost, because it would be purchased in

          6  bulk, really, that would come down somewhat.  It

          7  would also probably save your owners a lot of

          8  expenses in allegations, even potential lawsuits, or

          9  even greater remediation that entails when there is

         10  a fall by one of your tenants.  If we prevent it, I

         11  think that not only are the seniors, the persons for

         12  whom we prevented the fall better off, but your

         13  owners are better off.  Again, I'm willing to work

         14  with you and I'm sure we all are, to try and find

         15  the best way possible of doing it.

         16                 MR. HOFFMAN:  Thank you.

         17                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         18  very much.

         19                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you

         20  gentlemen. Marvin Wasserman, Lee Chan -- guess

         21  that's two Chans we have. No? Okay, Rosemary Bakker,

         22  Nancy Herbst -- you're Ms. Bakker?

         23                 MS. BAKKER:  Yes.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Okay.  Lois

         25  Rosage -- we need another chair there, where's our
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          2  guy?  They all left? Everybody left, what is this?

          3  Okay, you decide among you who wants to speak first.

          4    We're going to give you a better chair. We don't

          5  want you sitting on a folding chair.

          6                 MS. ROSAGE:  Thank you.  My name is

          7  Lois Rosage. I'm an Occupational Therapist.  I've

          8  been working extensively in the City of

          9  Philadelphia, serving seniors.  The reason that it

         10  was requested that I go first is because I have some

         11  very different numbers of the cost of grab bars and

         12  installation of grab bars.  Actually, I could start

         13  off with that.

         14                 I personally have done over 4,000

         15  homes, in and out of bathrooms, in the City of

         16  Philadelphia.  We have found, through providing

         17  these services, that the bulk rate on a good quality

         18  grab bar is between $9.00 and $10.00.  To put a grab

         19  bar in, on our average, with more than that many

         20  homes, it's a half an hour of labor, which in

         21  Philadelphia can be provided for $23.00.  So, if

         22  we're putting --

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I'm sorry,

         24  what the cost of installing?

         25                 MS. ROSAGE:  $23.00 for a half hour
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          2  of labor for one grab bar.  So, three grab bars, in

          3  a bathroom, which would be your average, would cost,

          4  cost the Corporation for Aging in Philadelphia

          5  $103.00 --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: You have the

          7  same type of apartment buildings that we do in this

          8  City?

          9                 MS. ROSAGE:  Well, it's a very, very

         10  urban area. We serve homes from 15 to 150 years of

         11  age.  So, we've pretty much seen it all.  Certainly,

         12  some are more, but that's really what we budget per

         13  service that we provide for a bathroom.  So, that's,

         14  it's a very realistic figure from experience.

         15                 I have been a practicing Occupational

         16  Therapist for 19 years, working in the area of

         17  physical dysfunction.  My expertise is in the area

         18  of maximizing function and safety by adapting

         19  environments for individuals with disabilities.  My

         20  experience is based on a graduate degree program in

         21  Occupational Therapy from Columbia University.

         22                 I've been working for the past seven

         23  years with the Philadelphia Corporation for Aging,

         24  providing home accessibility evaluation to their

         25  elderly consumers, so that homes can be made safer
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          2  with increased accessibility.

          3                 The Philadelphia Corporation for

          4  Aging is an area agency on aging.  It's the fourth

          5  largest in the United States. It's Housing

          6  Department, which I provide service for directly, is

          7  the largest in the nation.  In the past seven years,

          8  as I mentioned earlier, I performed 4,000 on- site

          9  accessibility evaluations with the number one

         10  priority consistently being bathroom safety.  The

         11  result of these evaluations has been the

         12  installation of grab bars in the tub and toilet

         13  areas, and providing non- skid materials for

         14  bathroom surfaces of consumers' existing bathrooms

         15  in the buildings ranging, as I mentioned, from 150

         16  to 15 years.  We also, at the Corporation for Aging,

         17  have a priority for serving the lower income

         18  individuals, and the 4,000 bathrooms have not always

         19  been structurally the way you would like them to be.

         20                 We've learned many things from our

         21  extensive experience with home modifications and I

         22  am grateful for the opportunity to share that

         23  experience with you today.  As an advocate for

         24  safety and health and the seniors in their homes

         25  throughout New York City and our country.  The field
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          2  of home adaptations has been evolving over the last

          3  20 years from specific problem- based design focus

          4  to one that's now known as a universal design

          5  approach.

          6                 An example of universal design can be

          7  observed in a very common adaptation utilized

          8  throughout your City, the curb cut.  Every three

          9  corner sidewalk has been sloped to allow for

         10  crossing the street without stepping down.  One

         11  might think of this as handicap accessibility or

         12  wheelchair accessible.  A parent or young children,

         13  however, sees it as an essential design feature,

         14  making it possible for them to maneuver a strolling

         15  through the streets of the City.  A skater, on the

         16  other hand, utilizes this design feature through or

         17  along the sidewalk without the need for two short

         18  jumps every block.  The elderly and visually

         19  impaired are the more obvious beneficiaries of this

         20  design, but able- bodied pedestrians have also grown

         21  to appreciate the presence -- the absence of the

         22  curb in their path as well.

         23                 The grab bar and non- skid standing

         24  surface in the bathroom are two additional design

         25  features that have more than one specific user, the
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          2  handicapped person.  Tub/shower units are, by

          3  definition of their function, frequently wet and

          4  soapy.  One unfortunate result of this, of their

          5  use, is a very slippery surface for any individual

          6  to safely negotiate.  Whether the user is seven, 37

          7  or 67, a strong, reliable handhold and a non- skid

          8  standing surface in the bath decreases the risk of

          9  slips and falls.

         10                 Toilets provide a functional

         11  challenge as well in some of those same bathrooms.

         12  The standard seating surface in the United States is

         13  18 to 19 inches.  The average height of a household

         14  toilet is 15 inches.  When the user's height or leg

         15  strength is not well- suited to getting up from such

         16  a low surface, compensation by using the arms to

         17  pull up is the next step.  The most common objects

         18  within reach are towel bars and sinks.  Neither of

         19  these items is designed to bear the weight of a

         20  person pulling him or herself up to standing.

         21                 The towel bar placed under the stress

         22  of a 100 to 300 pound pulling against it eventually

         23  pulls out of the wall, constituting a serious falls

         24  hazard.  The sink, while not so likely to break free

         25  as quickly, loosens and becomes unstable, frequently
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          2  leading to expensive repairs.  Another less common,

          3  but even more dangerous object to pull up on, is a

          4  steam radiator.  Burns are all too frequently the

          5  result of grabbing a radiator for needed support.

          6                 So, not unlike the curb cut, in my

          7  experience, I have found that the solution of adding

          8  appropriately installed grab bars and non- skid

          9  strips to bathrooms has improved the safety and the

         10  function of the majority of users, not just a select

         11  group.

         12                 Falls and their resulting injury are

         13  never something that we want to see happen to anyone

         14  in their home. The personal cost, as well as the

         15  cost to society needs to be minimized as much as

         16  humanly possible.  The elderly and disabled, as

         17  mentioned previously by others in this hearing,

         18  unfortunately have been found to suffer

         19  disproportionately from these often preventable

         20  falls in the bathroom.  Findings show that severity

         21  of injury, length and amount of recovery time and

         22  loss of function and independence are all suffered

         23  to a greater degree by this rapidly growing group of

         24  the population.  These are the reasons that the

         25  agency that I provide services for has committed
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          2  such extensive time and resources to the prevention

          3  of falls in the bathrooms of seniors.

          4                 I'd like to take a few minutes to

          5  focus my statements on the specifics of implementing

          6  falls prevention in residential bathrooms for

          7  seniors and the disabled.

          8                 The grab bars that we have found to

          9  be most effective are 18 inches and 24 inches in

         10  length.  As I mentioned earlier, these are costing

         11  us $9.00 to $10.00.  Bars are readily available in

         12  chrome and in stainless steel.  A burnished or a

         13  knurled surface, which Mr. Gerson was, had the

         14  foresight to buy just the perfect grab bar, thank

         15  you, in the middle grip area is essential to prevent

         16  slippage.

         17                 Installation.  Agreeing with the

         18  gentleman that came before me, bars need to be

         19  installed by a competent professional to ensure that

         20  they are attached to an area of the wall that can

         21  support the weight of the person pulling on them.

         22  This is frequently a stud or a masonry wall.

         23                 Placement of the bathroom grab bars

         24  in the tub and shower unit.  An 18 inch bar needs to

         25  be installed on the front wall of the tub, that's
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          2  the same wall as the faucet, beginning at eight

          3  inches above the tub edge, extending vertically to

          4  26 inches.  That's with structure allowing.  There's

          5  obviously some variability, but this is what would

          6  work best in the majority of homes.  A 24 inch grab

          7  bar needs to be installed on the sidewall, at an

          8  angle sloping up towards the shower head, beginning

          9  eight inches above the tub and extending 20 inches

         10  above the tub, structure allowing.

         11                 Placement at the toilet.  A 12 inch

         12  bar needs to be installed vertically between at --

         13  starting at 22 inches from the floor, to 34 inches

         14  above the floor.  The bar also needs to be 12 inches

         15  in front of the toilet, which is something that

         16  construction professionals often miss, and that's

         17  to, so that a person can reach forward and pull

         18  themselves up from the seated position.

         19                 The non- skid strips need to be

         20  appropriately installed according to manufacturer's

         21  recommendations, covering the bottom surface of the

         22  tub with strips no further than eight inches apart,

         23  and most frequently, much closer.

         24                 Now my follow-up visits to homes that

         25  have been adapted in the past leads me to just take
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          2  one additional moment to emphasize the need for

          3  proper installation of the needed grab bars.  A bar

          4  that has been inappropriately installed to a surface

          5  area that cannot support it, can present even more

          6  of a falls hazard.  Any assistive device needs to be

          7  installed by a person knowledgeable in the building

          8  trades to assure that it's safe and effective.

          9                 In my practice as an Occupational

         10  Therapist, I really have been privileged to witness

         11  first- hand the improved safety and increased

         12  independence for many, many seniors and people with

         13  disabilities living in the community.  This

         14  relatively small investment in their continued well-

         15  being through falls prevention is an opportunity

         16  that I feel we cannot afford to miss.  Thank you

         17  very much.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Just, before

         19  you go, are you a not for profit group?

         20                 MS. ROSAGE:  The Philadelphia

         21  Corporation for Aging? Yes.  It's an area agency on

         22  aging.  Fortunately, in Pennsylvania, our lottery

         23  funds go to benefit senior citizens, that's where

         24  some of our money comes from.  But, I wanted to

         25  share the experience that we have because its fairly
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          2  vast of what the actual implementation of grab bars

          3  has meant --

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          5                 MS. ROSAGE:-- For us --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.  So,

          7  we're going to be sexist and let Mr. Wasserman wait,

          8  or --

          9                 MR. WASSERMAN:  Hi, I'm Marvin

         10  Wasserman.  I'm President of the 504 Democratic

         11  Club, the City- wide coalition of persons with

         12  disabilities, their families and friends.  I also,

         13  at this time, want to express my regret that my dear

         14  friend, Alexander Wood (phonetic), Executive

         15  Director of the Disabilities Network of New York

         16  City could not be here today because he had a

         17  conflict.

         18                 But, I'm sure he joins with me in

         19  seconding (sic) what I have to say, and that is that

         20  an individual can become disabled at any time in

         21  their life span.  Sometimes it's immediate and

         22  sometimes its gradual.  And when this happens, the

         23  individual finds that they have to change their

         24  living environment.

         25                 If they live in a building where
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          2  there's, above the first floor and there's no

          3  elevator, or there are steps going up to the

          4  entrance of the building, it often requires a move,

          5  which entails leaving a home in which they've lived

          6  in a long time, which may be rent stabilized or

          7  under Section Eight and encouraging (sic) the

          8  additional expense of moving and finding a non- rent

          9  stabilized apartment, or going through the hassle of

         10  finding another Section Eight apartment.

         11                 When it comes to the bathroom, this

         12  is a relatively easy area to alter, as we have seen

         13  at a relatively modest cost.  The cost in terms of

         14  society is much greater because if the individual is

         15  unable to live in the building, in their home

         16  because of the lack of assist, adapted devices in

         17  the bathroom or they continue to do so and become

         18  injured, then they are forced not only to incur

         19  medical expenses or society's forced to do so, but

         20  also they are forced to live in a more restrictive

         21  environment at greater cost to society.

         22                 The industry's representatives here,

         23  who talked today about existing programs for

         24  installation of these devices, I think it's a, is

         25  one of the strongest arguments for this legislation
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          2  because, obviously, if this was so readily

          3  available, there wouldn't be need for this

          4  legislation.  So, I, you know, I applaud the Council

          5  Member Gerson, who, by the way, is my Council

          6  Member, and I'm very proud to say that, and the

          7  Committee for considering this bill at this time and

          8  I urge you to pass it. Thank you very much.

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         10  Ms. Bakker.

         11                 MS. BAKKER:  Good afternoon.  My name

         12  is Rosemary Bakker.  I am a Research Associate in

         13  Gerontologic Design and Medicine at the Weill

         14  Medical College of Cornell.  I began a home safety

         15  program about five years ago, called GEM, which is

         16  an acronym for Gerontologic Environmental

         17  Modifications.  I convened a New York City Task

         18  Force of over 20 agencies, all who work with older

         19  adults, and we identified fall risk in the bathroom,

         20  in the bathing and the toilet areas, as a

         21  significant obstacle to older adults' ability to age

         22  in place.

         23                 It is well documented in the

         24  literature that older adults are at increased risk

         25  for bathroom injuries due to chronic impairments,
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          2  including arthritis in gait and balance disorders.

          3  These impairments make movement in the bathtub and

          4  toilet areas a high risk activity without safety

          5  supports.  Getting in and out of a bathtub without

          6  safety supports, in an area where there are, which

          7  we've heard from our, the former person who just

          8  testified, wet, soapy and slippery surfaces, is an

          9  injury waiting to happen.

         10                 Now, to help prevent a fall while in

         11  the bathtub, especially when climbing over the side

         12  of the tub, older adults will hold on to a support,

         13  it'll be an unsafe one.  If you watch an older

         14  person get in and out of a bathtub, they'll go for

         15  the shower curtain, they'll hold on to slippery

         16  water faucets, they'll hold on to the edge of the

         17  sinks.  They do not get in and out of the tub

         18  without holding onto something.  So, I think it

         19  behooves us to give them the safety supports that

         20  they need.

         21                 Many older adults have weakened

         22  quadriceps and getting up from a toilet without safe

         23  handholds can be a hazardous endeavor again.  In

         24  lieu of grab bars, many grasp the nearest room

         25  feature, be it a door knob, a towel rack, as we
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          2  heard from a former, a woman who testified before,

          3  or a toilet tissue holder.  I have witnessed this

          4  myself.  Others rely on the helping hand of a care

          5  giver, putting the care giver at risk for injury.

          6                 We now know in the field that safety

          7  modifications are recognized as a key element in

          8  helping older adults remain in their own homes, but

          9  five major obstacles to intervention abound. One,

         10  lack of prevention.  We've heard this over and over

         11  again today, and we should heed.  Environmental

         12  hazards are often overlooked until the injury

         13  occurs.  An environmental hazard, as a

         14  gerontologist, is a bathtub without a safety support

         15  for an older person.

         16                 Two, misperceptions about the nature

         17  of hazards. Somehow, we believe the problem is

         18  exclusively the aging person rather than the poor

         19  environment person fit.  It's a given, most homes we

         20  live in, most apartments we live in, were designed

         21  for young, healthy, people, not for the needs of

         22  older adults.

         23                 Three, lack of education on tenants'

         24  rights.  Let me tell you right now, I have given

         25  hundreds of lectures all over the country and in New
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          2  York to both health care professionals and older

          3  adults.  No one are aware of the laws, particularly

          4  the New York City Human Rights Law, that allow

          5  tenants to make reasonable accommodations to their

          6  dwelling.  Most older people do not think they have

          7  the right.  The think by putting in a grab bar is

          8  going to damage the wall and it's going to make the

          9  apartment unacceptable to their landlord.

         10  Consequently, many do not consider installing grab

         11  bars even when these supports are necessary for

         12  their function and safety.

         13                 I also want to say something too.

         14  It's not so easy to call up the Human Rights

         15  Commission and file a complaint when a lot of older

         16  people are threatened about being removed from their

         17  apartment, particularly if they live in a rent

         18  controlled apartment.  I cannot tell you the dozens

         19  of older adults I work with, and they all say, I

         20  don't want to be a problem, I don't want to make

         21  trouble, I don't want to complain about my landlord,

         22  I can't be anonymous.  This attack does not work.

         23                 Four, common installations methods

         24  may not meet building code.  Again, we've heard

         25  about this today.  What data are we going on?  Well,
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          2  two years ago, I convened a grab bar safety

          3  installation group.  Along with the Eastern

          4  Paralyzed Veterans Association, we pilot tested

          5  various fasteners to ascertain if they passed the

          6  building code requirement, which is 250 pounds of

          7  force.  We tested both on plaster board and in tile

          8  and plaster, which you find in a lot of Manhattan

          9  apartments. You have the data enclosed.  Again, it's

         10  pilot testing, in a lab, but we showed that plastic

         11  anchors, which are a common installation method,

         12  fail building code.  So, we really do need to look

         13  that when a person's full body weight, plus perhaps

         14  the force of her fall, we need to make sure that

         15  grab bars are installed effectively.

         16                 I also want to say that there are

         17  many cost efficient toggle bolts that passed

         18  building code and they did not fail for up until 350

         19  pounds, building code's 250.  So, you don't

         20  necessarily have to have expensive installation

         21  methods.

         22                 Five, funding and service delivery.

         23  Paying for grab bars and installation and

         24  coordinating the service delivery is beyond the

         25  capability of many older adults.  I know the program
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          2  Metropair.  I think it's a very good program.  It's

          3  only for income eligible older adults, that's it.

          4  And, it's basically for rental apartments, I

          5  believe, in New York City, so I just want to go on

          6  record for that.

          7                 Final thoughts.  Over the years, many

          8  environmental safety features that were viewed as

          9  optional, including window guards for children, are

         10  now regarded as mandatory for public safety.

         11  Similar to window guards, this bill would ensure

         12  that all older adults, regardless of income, have

         13  access to protective devices appropriate for their

         14  age group.  I think any health care professional

         15  here will tell you that grab bars are only one

         16  safety measure for fall prevention, no one is saying

         17  otherwise.  But, to have older adults, particularly

         18  those who are frail, those with disabilities,

         19  bathing without safety supports, I think, is a very

         20  negative public health approach to take.

         21                 So, it behoove the New York City

         22  community to follow the safety guidelines from the

         23  Centers for Disease Control, which recommends that

         24  all older adults use grab bar in the bathroom to

         25  reduce preventable falls.
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          2                 Two colleagues of mine were not able

          3  to come, the Director of my geriatric program, Dr.

          4  Lacks (phonetic).  He states that Introduction 58,

          5  which would provide for grab bars for showers,

          6  bathtubs and the toilet areas is an important step

          7  in reducing the devastating impact of fall- related

          8  injuries amongst the elderly.  He urges the

          9  Legislation to pass this important initiative, and

         10  Dr. Loffosick (phonetic), who heads the Housecall

         11  Program, who works with frail, older people in their

         12  own homes, trying to keep them in their own homes

         13  and not have them take a fall and go to a nursing

         14  home, and she also states, a program that allows the

         15  elderly access to home safety devices, regardless of

         16  income, is a prudent and humane policy.  We urge you

         17  to pass this act.  Thank you.

         18                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         19  Do you have any questions?

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Again, I

         21  think the testimony of these witnesses so eloquently

         22  put speaks for itself. I just want to thank all of

         23  you, and Marvin I'm proud to have you as part of our

         24  district and for all your great work.  I want to

         25  particularly thank Dr. Rosage for coming all the way
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          2  from Philadelphia and sharing us the benefit, giving

          3  us the benefit of your experience.  Just two real

          4  quick ones.  I think it's reiteration for

          5  clarification and make sure we got it right.  The

          6  cost, the overall cost per, the average cost per

          7  apartment unit, from your experience from purchase

          8  to installation, what did you say that was?

          9                 MS. ROSAGE:  That was $103.00.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  $103.00 --

         11                 MS. ROSAGE: Yes.

         12                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- Is the

         13  average cost --

         14                 MS. ROSAGE:  -- For the installation

         15  of three grab bars --

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- Three --

         17                 MS. ROSAGE:  -- Buying them and

         18  installing them.

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  $103.00

         20  purchased through installation --

         21                 MS. ROSAGE: Yes.

         22                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- Per

         23  apartment, okay --

         24                 MS. ROSAGE: And that's in many

         25  different kinds of structures.  So, that's a pretty
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          2  realistic figure, realizing that again I was in

          3  many, many homes that were in poor repair.

          4                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Do you know

          5  offhand how much extra the cost is in the kind of

          6  the older tenement type of buildings?

          7                 MS. ROSAGE:  No, I don't.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Alright, but

          9  $103.00, I'm sure that you have plenty of those in

         10  Philadelphia.

         11                 MS. ROSAGE:  Plenty, and actually,

         12  the plastic with the lap is not such a bad surface

         13  to attach a grab bar to. I mean, obviously, it can

         14  be very deteriorated and difficult, but that in

         15  itself is not an indication for a poor installation.

         16                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And you have

         17  installed these in walk- up tenement old buildings?

         18                 MS. ROSAGE:  Yes, many.  Yea, row

         19  houses. Philadelphia --

         20                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's right.

         21                 MS. ROSAGE:  --  Is very much full of

         22  row houses. I would say the majority that I go to

         23  are over 75 years old, clearly.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, well

         25  thank you very much and Dr. Bakker, the Centers for
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          2  Disease Control, do you say that they have an

          3  affirmative recommendation with respect to grab

          4  bars?

          5                 MS. BAKKER:  Right, if you look at

          6  their fall prevention program and the list of

          7  environmental recommendations, one of the maybe five

          8  to seven recommendations are to install grab bars in

          9  bathroom and toilet areas.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I see.  Okay,

         11  well thank you very, very much and I just want to

         12  make it clear, several references have been made as

         13  to my role in this legislation.  I'm just a conduit.

         14    I have taken this and really it's the senior

         15  community which is the author of this bill, but

         16  thank you all very much.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         18  Edward Ma and Po Ling Ng, Ng always confuses me.

         19  It's nice to have so many folks here from your Asian

         20  community, welcome.  Whoever wants to start first,

         21  just identify yourself.

         22                 MS. NG:  Gentleman first.

         23                 MR. MA:  Thank you.

         24                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: That's only so

         25  the ladies get the last word, my --
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I know.  I

          3  know.

          4                 MR. MA:  Thank you.  Thank you Madam

          5  Chair and the Member of the Council and my name is

          6  Edward Ma, I'm the president of Asian American

          7  Community Consultation Association and also numerous

          8  board members, Community Board Member Two and the

          9  Chinese American Planning Council.  Also, I'm a

         10  former member of Human Right Commission.

         11                 First, I would like to appreciate,

         12  we're very grateful for Councilman Gerson introduce

         13  this bill.  I recall, this bill is long overdue,

         14  over 50 years ago, American President Harry Truman,

         15  he broke down his hips in the bathroom.  If

         16  Councilman Gerson's bill introduced and passed, I

         17  think our President would be, you know, no such

         18  injury.

         19                 I can, I think, I feel I can personal

         20  contest about my mother- in- law.  She was 85 and

         21  she was falling down in the bathroom and since the

         22  fall, she broke her collar bone.  She lost her

         23  memory, she couldn't take care of herself, she

         24  become independent, become, from independent to

         25  dependent.  She has to take care, my relatives have
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          2  to take care of her.  We have to ask for other home

          3  attendant to help her.

          4                 So, there's a lot of expenses and the

          5  family pays, family burden and a lot of, I can tell,

          6  it's really, because I'm more interested in the

          7  Chinese open door policy, Pollyanna's program, and I

          8  can testify that a lot of people, especially

          9  Chinese, they are so, my friend and the relatives,

         10  they are so suffer from such injury and have a lot

         11  of costs, the Medicaid and Medicare and home

         12  attendant, which they don't need, but they have to.

         13                 So, such a cost compare to $100.00

         14  such expenses to install a grab bar.  It's just

         15  impossible to compare. Therefore, I really urge the

         16  Council to pass this bill and also I think this is

         17  really human, basic human rights, it should be

         18  mandatory.  I feel really very uncomfortable to,

         19  this Americans very industrial country, richest

         20  country in the world and the highest scientific

         21  achievement, didn't have such a bill.  I feel

         22  really, very highly regretful and also I'm very

         23  appreciative Council Member Gerson introduced bill.

         24  Thank you.

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.
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          2                 MS. NG:  Good afternoon Committee

          3  Chair and City Council Members, of course, our

          4  lovely, you know, honorable Alan Gerson, because he,

          5  on behalf our district.  My name is Po Ling Ng.  I'm

          6  Director of the Chinese American Planning Council,

          7  Senior Citizen Center.  Today, not only me come here

          8  on behalf of our elderly to fight for our right.

          9  Sit down over here are our President Chair and

         10  Committee Chair of our Executive Committee of the

         11  Project Open Door.  Why they very patient stay over

         12  here that long? Because they thinking about, they no

         13  excuse when they fight for senior right.  So, that's

         14  why they come here and, of course, fully support,

         15  you know, Alan Gerson suggests that you know, the

         16  grab bar bill.

         17                 Just something like us mention about

         18  it, Grab Bar Bill, KSS stand for Keep Senior

         19  Standing.  I tell you I want to, you know, change

         20  that not only Keep Senior Standing and save their

         21  life, I also, if all you City Council fully

         22  supporting of us, all of us, we vote for you to come

         23  here to do the great job, because you are our great

         24  leader.  You care of our people.  So, I will change

         25  from the Keep Seniors Standing to be the Keep City
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          2  Council standing forever, okay?  And, so we need

          3  your help.

          4                 While I come here and fully support

          5  these, you know, bill today, I have very good

          6  opportunities to sharing with you experience,

          7  because I serve on the Senior Citizen Center 32

          8  years.  I'm still young, 18 years old, because my

          9  heart.

         10                 But, I tell you, I really sharing

         11  with you what is our senior need?  Why the Grab Bar

         12  Bill is very important?  I tell you Project Open

         13  Door is one of the program of the Chinese American

         14  Planning Council.  Chinese American Planning Council

         15  is a huge non- profit social service organization.

         16  Not only service in the Manhattan, including

         17  Brooklyn, Queens and City- wide.  I think this is

         18  very important. .

         19                 The one thing I tell you, sharing

         20  with you, we know only polite, very good services

         21  for our seniors.  Social services, recreational,

         22  educational and nutrition program case management

         23  and whatever, you could come, you know, whatever

         24  senior need.  We know the skills to meet their need.

         25  But the one thing, you know, we have a very great
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          2  program for the Meals on Wheels, and the visiting

          3  group.  We not only care of our senior to deliver

          4  their meal and care of the physical and

          5  psychological need.  Also, we go over there and

          6  check them. Their safety or not.  I tell you I'm

          7  really sharing with you some cases, just example.

          8                 When we go to the -- we train our

          9  milk deliverer very, very good.  When they deliver

         10  milk, they knock on door.  If no answer, should be

         11  patient.  You stand there and listen.  I tell you,

         12  finally, one day, we knock their door, supposedly

         13  two elderly couple live out there, but no answer.

         14  But, we keep knocking, but final, later on, we call

         15  the police department and fire department and go

         16  over there.  Couple, they fell down.  One in the

         17  bathroom, one in the bathroom and long, long time.

         18  Why? Because later on we checked.  They don't have

         19  grab bar over there.  It's really dangerous because

         20  they are elderly.  They are not young, they have

         21  physical problem.

         22                 So, if I talking about examples, so

         23  many, you know.  So, going back, the one thing, said

         24  something like I listen before the people sharing

         25  the information.  The grab bar only costs $27.00 for
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          2  the equipment, for the supplies.  Someone said that

          3  maybe cost more for the manpower for anything.

          4  Doesn't matter what?  The life is most important

          5  than the money.  If you don't have life, doesn't

          6  matter how much money, there's no meaningful.

          7                 So, that's why I tell you City

          8  Councilwoman, Special Committee Chair, please listen

          9  to me, should be, you know, passed this law.  We

         10  need your help.  We need to save our seniors' life.

         11  But, also, you know, only cost about little money,

         12  how much money they save for the New York City,

         13  something can't depend on counting on the CSCS data,

         14  they said that.  We'll be save more than $300

         15  million a year.  But, these grab bars, you know, for

         16  the whole life, use.  So, that's very important.

         17                 The second thing, talking about human

         18  being, not, human being, we are the human being.

         19  Most of our seniors live alone, they say, when they,

         20  you know, fell down on the bathroom, they cannot use

         21  their telephone to call 9- 1- 1, because, you know,

         22  the telephone no in the bathroom, most of them.  So,

         23  between life and death, very easy to, from life to

         24  death.  I tell you, everyone, even if you're very

         25  young, one day, you'll be the golden girl, okay,
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          2  golden age girl, then you find out what happening.

          3  So, that's why, human being, we are the human being.

          4  You take care of our human being, then something

          5  like our Member said that, he is the Chair of the

          6  Human Rights Commission. I tell you, you really

          7  fight for us human rights.  You should, otherwise,

          8  we don't vote for you.  I'm sorry.  Okay, I don't

          9  talk too much.

         10                 But, I tell you, you know, maybe you

         11  enjoy to listen my voice, but I see the time is

         12  right now 3:25, I know you very smart.  You

         13  understand what I talking about.  Please support

         14  Alan Gerson, you know, pass the bill.  Not only

         15  support, if you support Alan Gerson, this man

         16  support all our elderly.  So, I will change sentence

         17  from Keep Seniors Standing to Keep City Council

         18  Standing.  I, continue to do your wonderful job.

         19  Thank you, God bless all of you, thank you.

         20                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I see you

         21  Senior Center is located on Christie Street?

         22                 MS. NG:  Yes.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  What's the

         24  cross street?

         25                 MS. NG:  Across Grand.
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          2                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Oh, okay.

          3                 MS. NG:  One day, please come to

          4  visit us.

          5                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  I was going

          6  ask if we wanted to beat up Council Member Gerson

          7  because I was down there yesterday, at Christie and

          8  Houston and Valley (phonetic), where all the

          9  construction is going on and nobody can get across

         10  the street.

         11                 MS. NG:  The one thing I tell you, I

         12  tell you, you know, thank you of your support,

         13  special Alan Gerson, we were going to move to the

         14  240 Centre Street, the huge, huge, you know, center.

         15  Unfortunately, we fight for ten years already, but

         16  we still don't know when we could move in.  So,

         17  please come to visit us, fight for us.  We will

         18  fight for you, not only be the City Council.  You be

         19  City Council, maybe tomorrow you be the Mayor, next

         20  day you would be the --

         21                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Never know --

         22                 MS. NG:  -- President of the United

         23  State.

         24                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you

         25  very much.
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          2                 MS. NG:  Thank you.

          3                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  I would be

          4  honored to support Chair Provenzano for the Office

          5  of Mayor.  Let me, just, Po Ling, how many seniors

          6  does your center serve?

          7                 MS. NG:  I serve right now?  We had

          8  12,000 members, 12,000 members, but, you know,

          9  unfortunately, we had very little space.  Thank you

         10  Gerson, you helped us move to the huge space.  I

         11  tell you, we, I still sorry of my, our members, you

         12  know, we deny them every day.  Even if they want to

         13  come with us.  So, I feel sorry, you know.

         14                 Right now, we only could provide 270

         15  meals a day. You know how many people come over?  We

         16  deny them every day.  I feel sorry.  I'm crying

         17  every day.  Because, as the Director, to provide

         18  quantity and quality services.  You want me be the

         19  Director and deny that our senior?  Because our name

         20  is open door, you want me say that open half door

         21  and close half door.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Did you say

         23  you were 82 years old?

         24                 MS. NG:  Me?

         25                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Yea, how old
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          2  did you say?

          3                 MS. NG:  I'm 99 years old.

          4                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  No you're

          5  not.

          6                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, Madam

          7  Chair, there are many folks older than that, and I

          8  would invite you --

          9                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I would love

         10  to.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- To join me

         12   --

         13                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I would love

         14  to.

         15                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON: And we'll even

         16  bring Council Member Brewer.

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: I spend a lot

         18  of time down there --

         19                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- For lunch.

         20  I know you do.  We're happy to have you in the

         21  district.

         22                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  If there's

         24  nothing more to say --

         25                 MS. NG:  Please come to visit us.
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          2                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  There's not

          3  more to say after Po Ling, but just one speech, I

          4  tell you that, but just one question to Ed Ma, from

          5  your capacity and your role as a member of the Human

          6  Rights Commission --

          7                 MS. MA: Yes.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- Would it

          9  be helpful to have this type of clarification --

         10                 MR. MA: Yes.

         11                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  -- To the

         12  Human Rights Law as --

         13                 MR. MA: Yes, I think absolutely

         14  Councilman Gerson.  I think this is very, this

         15  should be mandatory for human dignity and human

         16  rights.  This is a basic human right to spend a

         17  little money to save a lot of money.  Why not?

         18  Penny wise, pound foolish, how come?  No, please.  I

         19  will say, I have to say, there should be no human

         20  right and human dignity, allow no political game to

         21  play, because its mandatory, is necessary, it's a

         22  must.

         23                 This law can save a lot of, lot of

         24  generations, safety, health and lot of family

         25  aggravation, tragedies save a lot of because one
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          2  person, the mother or the father fall, the whole

          3  family, save a lot of Medicaid, Medicare and medical

          4  expenses, family trauma.  We have enough problems

          5  already, we, if we are able to do this, by all

          6  means, we are lucky to have, you know, Councilman

          7  Gerson to have such kind of articulation.  50 years

          8  since President Truman, 50 years.  We cannot delay,

          9  please. Thank you.

         10                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, thank

         11  you very much. Madam Chair, our community and our

         12  City is blessed to have the presence of Edward Ma

         13  and Po Ling Ng.  I want to thank them both very

         14  much.

         15                 MS. NG:  Thank you supporting of us

         16   --

         17                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Thank you

         18  both.

         19                 MR. MA: Thank you, Madam Chair.

         20                 MS. NG: Thank you.

         21                 MS. MA: And the Members of Council,

         22  thank you.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  We have Sara

         24  Kramer, Jessica Walker.

         25                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  This is the
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          2  last panel?

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  This is the

          4  last panel. Either one start, identify yourself.

          5                 MS. WALKER:  Sure.  Good afternoon,

          6  my name is Jessica Walker, and I'm a Policy Analyst

          7  at United Neighborhood Houses, also known as UNH.

          8  UNH is a federation of 36 settlement houses that

          9  benefits half a million New Yorkers from infants to

         10  adults to seniors, with educational programs,

         11  employment assistance, human services and cultural

         12  activities at 350 locations throughout New York

         13  City.

         14                 Founded in 1919, to bridge the common

         15  interests and concerns of New York settlement

         16  houses, and the communities they serve, UNH, and

         17  it's member agencies today comprise one of the

         18  City's largest human service systems.  It is because

         19  of this historic and continued commitment to our

         20  communities that we appear before you today to speak

         21  on Intro. 58 and the need for falls prevention

         22  measures among the elderly.  Thank you for the

         23  opportunity.

         24                 As you know, this legislation would

         25  give seniors and disabled individuals the option of
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          2  having safety grab bars installed in their

          3  apartments' bathtubs and shower stalls.  These grab

          4  bars are an important device for minimizing the

          5  potential injuries that may result when an elderly

          6  or disabled individual slips on the bathroom floor

          7  while entering or exiting the bathroom, the bathtub

          8  or shower.

          9                 This legislation was fashioned after

         10  the City's highly successful window guard program

         11  implemented in the 1980's, which mandates that

         12  window guards be installed in all rental apartments

         13  with children.  Falls are the leading cause of

         14  unintentional injury death for people 65 and older.

         15  Of those who fall, 20 percent to 30 percent suffered

         16  severe to moderate injuries.  A shocking 25 percent

         17  of elderly who sustain a hip fracture die within one

         18  year of injury.

         19                 In 1994, the average direct cause for

         20  all senior falls, falls injuries, was $20.2 billion,

         21  and by 2020, that cost is expected to reach $32.4

         22  billion.  We believe the current lack of an

         23  effective falls prevention program costs New York

         24  City more in health care, Medicaid, Medicare and

         25  related expenses than the costs associated with
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          2  implementing such a program.  There is a demographic

          3  revolution underway.  The number of elderly people

          4  across the City is increasing dramatically.  New

          5  York City is no exception.  Currently, there are 1.3

          6  million people over the age of 60 in New York City

          7  alone, and that number is projected to grow

          8  dramatically in the years to come.

          9                 According to the 2000 U.S. Census,

         10  there are nearly 360,000 rental households in New

         11  York City, where the occupants are over the age of

         12  65 and living alone.  This is a population at high

         13  risk for injury.  In fact, falls prevention, falls

         14  are the leading cause of death for this population.

         15                 New York City must take active steps

         16  to plan for the fact that our population is aging

         17  and take the measures necessary to ensure that all

         18  New Yorkers may age safety, independently and with

         19  dignity in their own homes and communities.  This

         20  initiative would have the potential of saving

         21  thousands of lives and preventing countless

         22  injuries, while protecting scarce City government

         23  resources.  Therefore, we urge the City Council to

         24  pass Intro. 58.  We thank you for the opportunity to

         25  testify today and we stand ready to work with you to
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          2  bring about these necessary changes. Thank you.

          3                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Doctor.

          4  When your off, you're on.

          5                 DR. KRAMER:  Good afternoon --

          6                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO: Okay.

          7                 DR. KRAMER:  I'm Dr. Sara Kramer.

          8  I'm a Rheumatologist in private practice.  I'm

          9  affiliated with NYU Medical Center and I'm on the

         10  Board of Governors for the New York Chapter of the

         11  Arthritis Foundation.  I might add, that the

         12  Arthritis Foundation offers many self- help courses

         13  and exercise courses for people with arthritis and

         14  the elderly, and we've been able to expand our

         15  program and the number of patients and citizens we

         16  serve by the support of Councilman Gerson.

         17                 As you've heard, falls can be

         18  devastating physically and emotionally to the

         19  elderly or disabled individuals.  Fractures, head

         20  injuries, and the feeling of vulnerability are only

         21  some of the issues an elderly or physically impaired

         22  person faces after a fall.  Frequently, the fear of

         23  falling and the possible resulting consequences are

         24  immobilizing.  Environmental alterations, such as

         25  grab bars in bathrooms and showers can reduce the
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          2  risk of falling, increase confidence and

          3  independence and reduce the consequences of falls

          4  and improve quality of life for these citizens at

          5  risk.

          6                 Low bone mass is the greatest risk

          7  factor for fracture after a fall.  In this country,

          8  over 20 million women, over the age of 50, have

          9  reduced bone mass, known as osteopenia and

         10  osteoporosis.  Ten to 15 million men have a similar

         11  condition.  The prevalence increases with age.

         12  There is a dramatic increase in hip fractures

         13  occurring in women after the age 70 and in men over

         14  the age of 75.

         15                 In 1995, 1.2 million fractures were

         16  caused by osteoporosis.  The risk factors for

         17  fractures include low bone mass, a history of falls,

         18  impaired cognition, physical factors such as slow

         19  gait, a decrease in quadricep strength and

         20  environmental impediments.

         21                 After a hip fracture, one sixth of

         22  those aged 50 to 55 is discharged to a nursing home,

         23  rising to over 50 percent at age 90.  17 percent of

         24  women and 31 percent of men do not survive the year

         25  after a hip fracture.  One year after fracture, only
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          2  40 percent of surviving patients regain previous

          3  level of mobility and 25 percent regain previous

          4  functional state.  50 percent of men require

          5  institutionalization after hip fracture. The human

          6  cost of these mishaps is devastating.  The direct

          7  medical cost for fractures a decade ago was over $20

          8  billion a year, not to mention indirect costs, such

          9  as missed work and productivity on the part of

         10  family care givers.  As the population ages, the

         11  number of fractures and the cost to society will

         12  only increase.

         13                 The medical community has focused

         14  attention on preventing the dangerous decline in

         15  bone density that occurs with aging.  There is

         16  heightening awareness of medications that maintain

         17  bone strength.  Patients at risk are also educated

         18  about lifestyle changes that can reduce fracture

         19  risk, such as regular exercises to build bone

         20  strength and improve balance, adequate calcium and

         21  vitamin D intake, smoking cessation, reduction and

         22  alcohol consumption.

         23                 The community at large must also take

         24  responsibility in protecting those at risk for falls

         25  by paying attention to environmental alterations.
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          2  Simple measures, such as bathroom and shower grab

          3  bars, and I must add safety in the sidewalks and

          4  removing potholes on the street, cannot only reduce

          5  fractures, but will also reduce human suffering and

          6  the cost of medical and custodial care.  Thank you.

          7                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you

          8  very much.

          9                 COUNCIL MEMBER BREWER:  I just want

         10  to add, I checked with my office, to compliment what

         11  Council Member Gerson says, and we are receiving

         12  actually quite a few complaints, a lot, I would say,

         13  from the single room occupancy residential hotels,

         14  where there is often a joint bathroom shared, or

         15  not. Sometimes a small bathroom in a residential

         16  hotel room.  But, and we have, it turns out, no

         17  surprise to anybody here, we do spend a great deal

         18  of time negotiating with the owner.

         19                 I'm not sure that my staff does know

         20  that the Human Rights Law is supposed to cover this

         21  and we will go back and try to think if there's

         22  another procedure, other than making, many, many

         23  calls to the owner.  I want to say in the defense of

         24  the owners, after many calls and much negotiation,

         25  we are usually successful in getting the grab bar,
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          2  et cetera.  But, that is only for those individuals

          3  who have the wherewithal to call. Obviously, that's

          4  not everyone.  Thank you Madam Chair.

          5                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  And if I may,

          6  I would bet that if you did the cost calculation of

          7  the cost represented, Council Member Brewer, the

          8  time put into this, by your very able staff, and I

          9  know your staff, following your lead, is

         10  extraordinarily able, that that cost is far greater

         11  than the cost which we heard testify would be to put

         12  in, to purchase and put in this equipment.

         13                 Just want to, first of all, Dr.

         14  Kramer, thank you for being here.  I know you have a

         15  difficult schedule as a practicing physician.

         16  Apparently, we, I didn't realize you were here, and

         17  so I want to thank you in advance and apologize for

         18  any scheduling miscommunication.

         19                 Just, one question, Dr. Kramer, there

         20  was earlier -- I don't know if you were here or no

         21   -- there was testimony as to the need for exercise

         22  and a holistic approach to fall prevention, although

         23  that term was not used, but referenced to the need

         24  for exercise and other improvements was cited.  I

         25  know you and your organization have been in the
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          2  forefront of promoting exercise among seniors, and

          3  especially for people with arthritis, is there any

          4  contradiction between promoting exercise and

          5  requiring grab bars?  I mean, if we do one, do we

          6  not need to do the other or do the two go together

          7  or not?

          8                 DR. KRAMER:  Well, the two really go

          9  together. First of all, exercise throughout life, is

         10  important in maintaining health and maintaining

         11  muscle mass and agility and balance is very

         12  important in preventing falls, and patients who

         13  exercise are less likely to have reduced bone mass

         14  and also they have more ability to break a fall,

         15  should they start falling, because of better

         16  balance.

         17                 Also, patients who have larger muscle

         18  mass do provide some cushioning if they do fall.

         19  And, so there is no contraindication and they, there

         20  is no one cure all for falls and preventing

         21  fractures, really, a multi- discipline approach

         22  needs to be taken.

         23                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Well, let me

         24  ask you, hypothetically, if every senior were to

         25  take the PACE, People with Arthritis Can Exercise
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          2  program, which your organization sponsors, by the

          3  way, that's the reference which Dr. Kramer made to

          4  our role.  We fund these ten week courses in senior

          5  centers and buildings with our discretionary funds,

          6  and I recommend to all my colleagues consideration

          7  of establishing these programs in your districts,

          8  because it's really very cost- effective and we get

          9  a lot of positive response.  But, if everyone took

         10  that course, and if everyone, if every senior and

         11  person with a condition did what they should be

         12  doing in terms of exercise and lifestyle, would it

         13  still be a good idea to install these?

         14                 DR. KRAMER:  Yes, absolutely, because

         15  it wouldn't solve all the problems, but it would

         16  also -- the exercise programs have benefits outside

         17  of just arthritis and osteoporosis, reducing blood

         18  pressure, reducing cholesterol, reducing stress.

         19  So, I recommend them and hope everyone will support

         20  them, but I think the grab bars are still necessary.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  As the son of

         22  a phys. Ed. Teacher, I would never recommend,

         23  indicate that people -- I would never underestimate

         24  the importance of exercise, but there was some

         25  testimony earlier that kind of, could of been either
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          2  interpreted or misinterpreted to mean that, well,

          3  you know, these are not really that important.

          4  What's really important is the exercise and I'm

          5  trying to see if we really, if it should put one --

          6                 DR. KRAMER: I think they're both

          7  important. They're both very important.

          8                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Okay, well

          9  thank you very much.  Ms. Walker, from your

         10  experience, I know UNH does such fantastic work with

         11  seniors.  Is this something that if seniors would be

         12  able, from your experience, to know about and access

         13  with relative ease that they would take advantage

         14  of?

         15                 MS. WALKER:  No, absolutely.  And

         16  that's something that we, I know that a lot of our

         17  member agencies do work on it. Something like this,

         18  they would, I think, like on intake into the

         19  settlement house, they would make sure that seniors

         20  were aware of this program.

         21                 COUNCIL MEMBER GERSON:  Thank you

         22  both very much.

         23                 CHAIRPERSON PROVENZANO:  Thank you

         24  very much. Intro. Number 58 is layed over.  This

         25  hearing is adjourned.
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          2                 (Meeting adjourned at 3:44 p.m.)

          3                 (Following written testimony was read

          4  into the record.)

          5

          6

          7  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

          8  MARK LACHS, M.D., M.P.H.

          9  DIRECTOR OF GERIATRICS,

         10  NEW YORK PRESBYTERIAN HEALTH SYSTEM

         11  CO-CHIEF OF THE DIVISION OF GERIATRIC MEDICINE AND

         12  GERONTOLOGY AT THE WEILL MEDICAL COLLEGE OF CORNELL

         13  UNIVERSITY

         14                 As I am unable to attend the public

         15  hearing on Introduction 58, scheduled for April 19,

         16  2004 I am submitting this written statement in

         17  support of the above mentioned legislation.

         18  Introduction 58, which would provide for grab bars

         19  by showers, bathtubs and toilets, is an important

         20  step in reducing the devastating impact of fall

         21  related injuries amongst the elderly.

         22                 As Director of Geriatrics for the New

         23  York Presbyterian Health System, and Co- Chief of

         24  the Division of Geriatric Medicine and Gerontology

         25  at the Weill Medical College of Cornell University,
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          2  I am well aware of the serious dangers falls and

          3  fall related injuries pose for the frail and

          4  elderly. Falls result from a myriad of conditions

          5  common in older people- Alzheimer's, Parkinson's,

          6  visual impairment, arthritis are but a few.  The

          7  results of a fall for a senior citizen can be life

          8  threatening.  Hip fracture is one of the most mortal

          9  and morbid events possible in the life of an older

         10  person, but other serious bone and brain injuries

         11  may occur.  After a fall, older people are

         12  frequently fearful of ambulating and therefore,

         13  restricted to their environment.  A loss of social

         14  supports and depression typically follows

         15  thereafter.  Frequently, a long period of

         16  rehabilitation is required and often the individual

         17  is unable to return home and live independently.

         18  The impact on a patients' physical and mental

         19  condition is often devastating.  Many patients often

         20  wind up institutionalized, or are forced to rely on

         21  home care attendants and other care givers.

         22                 Fall related injuries come at a high

         23  financial cost as well.  Patients who suffer hip

         24  fractures and other serious injuries are often

         25  hospitalized for a week or more. Often, extensive
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          2  rehabilitation is required.

          3                 I commend you and the City Council

          4  for recognizing the importance of fall related

          5  injuries amongst the elderly and for taking action

          6  to improve the quality of life and independence of

          7  older New Yorkers.  I urge the legislature to pass

          8  this important initiative.

          9

         10  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF:

         11  DONALD M. HALPERIN

         12  NEW YORK STATE ASSOCIATION FOR AFFORDABLE HOUSING

         13

         14                 My name is Donald Halperin and I am

         15  here today representing the New York State

         16  Association For Affordable Housing, commonly known

         17  as NYSAFAH, an organization of developers and others

         18  involved in the financing and building of affordable

         19  housing.  The bulk of our 200 members work

         20  throughout New York City's five boroughs and are

         21  collectively responsible for most of the housing

         22  built with city, state, or federal subsidies in NYC

         23  in recent years.

         24                 NYSAFAH supports the intent of the

         25  legislation on Intro 58, which would require that
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          2  landlords install protective devices for senior

          3  citizens and disabled persons.  In fact, NYSAFAH

          4  developers are often required to make these

          5  modifications to comply with fair housing and

          6  Americans With Disabilities Act legislation.

          7                 We are, however, concerned about the

          8  notice requirements in the legislation which would

          9  add to a proliferation of notices that is rapidly

         10  becoming a costly burden for the landlord and an

         11  unwieldy responsibility for the tenant. We recommend

         12  that the annual notice in the legislation be

         13  consolidated with the window guard notice.  This

         14  would minimize paperwork and the opportunity for

         15  errors by both the landlord and the tenant.

         16                 NYSAFAH is prepared to work with the

         17  City Council to develop an effective approach to

         18  best safeguard those who are intended to benefit

         19  from this legislation.

         20

         21  WRITTEN TESTIMONY OF DR. VERONICA LOFASO

         22  DIRECTOR, HOUSECALL PROGRAM

         23  DIVISION OF GERIATRICS AND GERONTOLOGY

         24  WEILL MEDICAL COLLEGE OF CORNELL UNIVERSITY

         25                 As our population ages, more and more
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          2  patients are living with chronic diseases and

          3  disabilities.  Falls are a common and devastating

          4  occurrence in our elderly patients and more often

          5  occur at home.  The results of these falls are

          6  fractures associated with high morbidity and

          7  mortality, and the ensuing cost to the health care

          8  system is enormous.  A program that allows the

          9  elderly access to home safety devices, regardless of

         10  income, is a prudent and humane policy.

         11                 (Hearing concluded at 3:44 p.m.)
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